

Faculty of Health Science - Department of community medicine

# Master's Thesis in Public Health

# (Oral contraceptive use and risk of mortality among Norwegian women – a prospective study from the NOWAC study)

Hel 3950 December 2021 Supervisor – Tonje Braaten, Associate professor Co-supervisor- Faith Owunari Benebo, PhD-Student



# Preface

It has been a great journey studying at UiT-The Arctic University of Norway. Collaborating with international students with diverse academic background allowed me to gain invaluable experience and knowledge. I have spent about a year in the public health sector in Nigeria as a public health officer, however, I felt the need to polish and enhance my skills where my teachers at UiT helped me greatly.

Working and researching drugs is something I have always had great interest in, and my supervisor Tonje Braaten was very helpful in expanding my knowledge in the aspect of oral contraceptives and to my co-supervisor Faith Benebo for helping a great deal with my statistical analysis.

Lastly, I'd like to thank Dr Femi Oyeyemi for providing me with a lot of insight on my thesis on what to research on and the necessary information to input.

I am thankful to my family for providing words of encouragement when things were looking so bleak.

#### Abstract

**Background and theory:** Millions of women are dependent on the use of oral contraceptives in order to have a more meaningful life and a general sense of well-being. Oral contraceptives enable women to control their reproductive life and manage other aspects of their life such as education, career, and family. These benefits make oral contraceptives one of the most prescribed medications among women. However, while there is established evidence on the short-term effects of oral contraceptive use, there are conflicting reports on the long-term risk of oral contraceptive use, especially regarding mortality. This study aims to explore the longterm association between oral contraceptive use and risk of mortality in a prospective cohort study of Norwegian women using the Cox proportional hazard model.

**Methods:** We gathered self-reported data from 126 786 women in the Norwegian Women and Cancer study's nationally representative cohort study. We obtained data on Oral contraceptive use, including duration of use and age at first use. Information on the outcome mortality was obtained from the Norwegian cause of death registry (which is regularly updated) during follow-up, in addition to covariate information. The association between Oral contraceptive use and the outcome mortality was assessed using Cox regression analysis. Respondents who had missing data on the exposure were excluded. Missing data on variables and participants lost to follow-up were excluded. Duration of Oral contraceptive use and age at first oral contraceptive use were assessed for trend and as categorical variables.

**Results:** Based on 11 310 deaths, we found no overall difference in mortality among women who had ever used oral contraceptives compared with women who had never used oral contraceptives. The hazard risk for ever-users, adjusted for age, was 0.95 (95% CI, 0.92 to 1.00). We observed a trend in no risk for total mortality with increasing duration of OC use of oral contraceptives. After adjusting for age, body mass index, cigarette smoking, education, physical activity, and the number of children, women who had used oral contraceptives still had no risk of mortality of 0.98 (CI, 0.95 to 1.02).

#### Conclusion

The use of Oral contraceptives is safe; no evidence from this study indicates that long durations of oral contraceptive use adversely affect long-term risk for mortality.

# Table of Contents

Pi A Ta Li K	reface bstract able of co ist of figu eywords	ontent and tables and abbreviations	
1	PUR	POSE OF THIS THESIS	6
2	INTF	ODUCTION	7
3	BAC	KGROUND AND THEORY	
	3 1		10
	3.1	Unintended preopancies	10
	3.2	THE ECONOMIC AND HEALTH BENEFITS OF ORAL CONTRACEPTION	12
	3.3	RISK OF MORBIDITY DUE TO ORAL CONTRACEPTIVE USE	
	3.4	RISK OF MORTALITY DUE TO ORAL CONTRACEPTIVE USE	
	3.4.1	Mortality research showing no protective factor and no risk of mortality	
	3.4.2	Mortality research showing a protective factor from mortality	
	3.5	COVARIATES	
	3.5.1	Age	
	3.5.2	Body mass index	
	3.5.3	Education	19
	3.5.4	Alcohol consumption	20
	3.5.5	Cigarette smoking status	
	3.5.6	Physical activity	
	3.5.7	Number of children	
4	MAT	ERIALS AND METHODS	23
	41	THE NORWEGIAN WOMEN AND CANCER (NOWAC) STUDY	23
	4.1.1	Questionnaires in the Norwegian Women and Cancer study	
	4.1.2	Follow-up in the Norwegian Women and Cancer study	
	4.2	STUDY POPULATION	
	4.3	ANALYSIS OF DATA	
	4.3.1	Exposure and outcomes in the material	
	4.3.2	Confounders	
	4.3.3	Statistical methods	29
5	RES	JLTS	
	5 1		21
	511	Descriptive statistics of variables	
	5.2	Cov decdession analysis	
	521	Main findings for duration of $\Omega C$ use	36
	5.2.2	Main findings for age at first Oral contracentive use	
	5.2.3	Main findings for Oral contraceptive use	
6	DISC	IISSION	20
0	DISC	USSION	
	6.1	MAIN FINDINGS	
	6.2	COMPARISONS TO OTHER STUDIES	
	6.2.1	Descriptive statistics	
	6.3	STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS	
	0.3.1	Strengths	
	0.3.2	LIMULIONS COD DUDLIC HEALTH	
	0.4 6 5	IVIPLICATIONS FUR FUBLIC TEALTH	43 11
	0.5		

# List of figures

Figure 4.1 Cohort enrolment in the NOWAC study: participants, questionnaires, and baseline/follow-ups

Figure 4.2 - Flowchart representing the exclusion criteria for the selection of final cohort sample

Figure 5.1 – Kaplan – Maier estimator for the association between OC use and mortality

# List of tables

Table 5.1. Distribution of covariates according to ever and never users of oral contraceptives

Table 5.2. Table 5.2. Hazard ratios (HR) and confidence intervals (CI) in age-adjusted models for duration of oral contraceptive use, age at first oral contraceptive use, and oral contraceptive use on mortality

Table 5.3. Hazard ratios (HR) and confidence intervals (CI) in multivariate adjusted models for duration of oral contraceptive use, age at first oral contraceptive use, and oral contraceptive use on mortality

# **Keywords and abbreviations**

NOWAC – The Norwegian women and cancer study OC- Oral Contraceptives LARC- Long-acting reversible contraceptives RCGP- Royal College of General Practitioners (RCGP) CVD- Cardiovascular deaths BMI- Body mass index HR- Hazard ratio CI- Confidence interval SPSS- Statistical Package for Social Sciences EPIC- The European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and nutrition (EPIC) WHO- World Health Organization

#### **1** Purpose of this thesis

The Norwegian Women and Cancer (NOWAC) study is a prospective cohort study that was initially developed to study the relationship between female cancer such as breast cancer and internal and external or artificially developed hormones. The study has self-reported information on women's oral contraceptive use, as well as information on mortality which was linked from the Norwegian cause of death registry and regularly updated. Oral contraceptives have been used in the US for 60 years and over 50 years in Norway, and while the short-term effects are well documented, there are ambiguous reports on the long-term use of oral contraceptive use, while other studies indicate no association between oral contraceptive use and mortality. These findings led us to ask the research questions: *What is the strength of association between Oral contraceptive use and mortality in a cohort of Norwegian women? Is there a protective factor to long-term use of oral contraceptives, no risk of mortality, or increased risk of mortality with long-term use of oral contraceptives?* 

The purpose of this study is to explore the long-term association between oral contraceptive use and risk of mortality in a prospective cohort study of Norwegian women using the Cox proportional hazard model.

#### 2 Introduction

Oral contraception is a widely used and well-accepted method of contraception worldwide. Oral contraceptives have been available for over 40years and, although their short-term effects on health have been studied in detail (Royal College of general practitioners 1974, Vessey et al., 1976), comparatively little is known about whether these effects persist after use stops. Unplanned pregnancies account for around 82 percent of pregnancies among women aged 15

to 19, and 60 percent of pregnancies among women aged 20 to 24 in developed countries (Darroch et al. 2001; Finter and Henshow 2006). Even though most women in these age groups use contraceptive methods, this high rate exists (Mosher et al. 2004). However, in underdeveloped countries, the above numbers are different from those in developed countries (Singh et al. 1998).

Oral contraceptive use has been advancing dramatically since its introduction in the 1960s, and an increasing number of people are using them. In 2015, the rates of married or in-union women aged 15 to 49 years who used oral contraceptives in the United States and the United Kingdom were roughly 16% and 28%, respectively (Benagiano 2006; UN 2015). Contraception is also commonly used in Western Europe, with an estimated 43.5 percent of reproductive-age women using it (UN 2005). According to a Swedish study, 65 to 88 percent of women currently use or are former users of OCs (Roswal et al. 2017; Ranstam et al. 1993; Kopp Kallner et al. 2015; Kumle et al. 2002), and the rate is rising. In Norway, about 21% of women under study used oral contraceptives as of 1994, while about 30% used other forms of contraception like IUDs (Skjeldestsad 1994). In a study by Furu et al., Combined oral contraceptives (COC) were still the most used hormonal contraceptive method in all age groups between the periods of 2006-2018 in Norway. However, this study also reports a decline in the use of COCs during the period, especially in those < 25 years, where a corresponding increase in the use of new and long-lasting forms of contraceptives such as long-acting reversible contraceptives (LARC) has taken place, mainly from 2014 onwards (Furu et al.,).

There is no doubt that humankind has benefitted in numerous ways through the innovative development of safe and effective contraceptive methods (Barot 2008; Cleland et al. 2006; Lule et al. 2007). Millions of women worldwide have been using oral contraceptives, and in

America, it is the most prescribed prescription for women aged 18 to 44 (Cogliano et al., 2005). The rate of pregnancies declines in more affluent societies (Speroff and Fritz 2005). This decrease is a result of the increased usage of contraceptive methods. Furthermore, the level of education and socioeconomic well-being of a person are crucial determinants in utilizing contraception (Singh et al. 1998). Surveys of the general population have revealed that the most significant demand for contraception is among adolescents and women over the age of 35, at either end of the reproductive range (Burkman Jr 1995). The relationship between reproductive rights and women's empowerment and the importance of contraceptive use is undeniable. In order to safeguard other aspects of women's and human rights, the ability of women to control their sexuality and fertility through appropriate contraception must be established first (Bongaarts 2014; Barroso 2010; Fantahun 2006). Oral contraception helps prevent pregnancy and can alleviate menstruation symptoms (Oinonen & Mazmanian, 2002).

Additionally, Oral Contraceptives have significantly decreased the personal and societal burden associated with unintended births, particularly the burden associated with maternal fatalities, to a remarkable degree (Maguire & Westhoff, 2011). A study claimed that if women of reproductive age did not utilize oral contraceptives, maternal deaths would be 1.8 times higher (Ahmed et al., 2005). There are numerous reported health benefits associated with contraception, including established benefits such as less functional ovarian cysts and new benefits such as a lower risk of colon cancer (Luan et al., 2015). Furthermore, oral contraceptives give women the ability to manage their reproductive health and, as a result, other parts of their lives, such as their careers and families (Charlton et al., 2014). Research has shown that a wide range of diseases, such as dysmenorrhea and fibroid-related symptoms, acne, and premenstrual dysphoric disorder, can be alleviated using oral contraceptive pills (Maguire & Westhoff, 2011).

Despite the advantages mentioned earlier, studies have highlighted concerns about the potential adverse effects of OC use, including the possibility of life-threatening negative consequences. For example, several studies have found that people who use OCs regularly are at an increased risk of ischemic stroke (Peragallo et al., 2013) and cervical cancer (Gierisch et al., 2013). Findings have also shown that the use of oral contraceptives (OC) that include both estrogen and progestin increase the risk of thrombosis, coronary heart disease (CHD), stroke, and breast cancer, while decreasing the risk of ovarian and uterine cancer (Rosendaal et al., 2003; Beral et

al., 1999; Dunn et al., 1999; Tanis eta al., 2001; Rosenberg et al., 2001; Gillum et al., 2000; Kumle et al., 2003).

With these advantages and disadvantages highlighted, it is also essential to clarify whether there are risks of mortality with OC use or not. There are several types of Hormonal Contraceptives, yet Far more women use combination OCs, and as a result, most epidemiologic studies consider this type, particularly the formulations popular during the 1960s to mid-1970s. Furthermore, it is for this reason that this study is focusing on Oral contraceptives.

#### **3** Background and Theory

To adequately investigate the research question, background knowledge is needed regarding what oral contraceptives are, why oral contraceptives were developed, the economic and health benefits of oral contraceptives, prevalence of Oral contraceptive use as well as the association of Oral contraceptives to the outcome, mortality in our study. We researched what was known about this relationship, and what results were to be expected, as well as where theory might be lacking. In addition, we surveyed the relationship between women and the exposure and outcomes used in our study. Finally, we examined whether any of the reported covariates had a potentially confounding effect on the relationship between Oral contraceptive use and outcomes.

#### **3.1** Oral contraceptives

Oral contraceptives also known as birth-control pills are medications taken by mouth to prevent pregnancy. The most common type of oral contraceptive pill is the combined hormonal pill with estrogen and progesterone. Estrogen and progesterone are two female sex hormones produced naturally in the body. Combination pills contain synthetic (man-made) forms of the estrogen and progesterone. The combinations of estrogen and progesterone work by preventing ovulation (the release of eggs from the ovaries), changing the lining of the uterus (womb) to prevent pregnancy from developing and changing the mucus at the cervix (opening of the uterus) to prevent sperm (male reproductive cells) from entering. Oral contraceptives do not prevent the spread of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV, the virus that causes acquired immunodeficiency syndrome [AIDS]) and other sexually transmitted diseases, however, are a very effective method of birth control if used correctly (Medline 2021).

Types of Oral contraceptives include Monophasic pills, Multiphasic pills and Extended cycle pills all of which differ in duration of use and hormonal levels. Investigating further leads us to why oral contraceptives were developed in the first place thus bringing us to the public health challenge of unintended pregnancies.

#### **3.1.1 Unintended pregnancies**

Unintended pregnancies are pregnancies that are mistimed (occurred earlier than wanted), unplanned or unwanted (did not want to be pregnant at all) at the time of conception. Unintended pregnancies include at least for one of couples not wanting the pregnancy. A current definition of unintended pregnancy also includes women who are ambivalent about their pregnancy (Piccinino 1995). It is among the most troubling public health problems and a major reproductive health issue including accidental pregnancy and defined as a pregnancy that was undesired for one or both partners (Finer et al.,). Approximately 210 million women become pregnant worldwide each year of which 87 million are unplanned and 41 million continue to birth. Reports by Sonfield et al., showed that the total number of unsafe abortions in 2008 was 21-22 million worldwide and there were 22 unsafe abortions per 1000 women aged 15-44 years. Furthermore, Sonfield reported that mortality due to unsafe abortion estimates 47000 maternal deaths (that is 13% of maternal mortality in 2008). Approximately fifty percent of pregnancies in the U.S are unintended and about 48% of reproductive-age American women (15-44) have experienced at least one unintended pregnancy (Sonfield et al. 2011, Amani et al., 2010). The economic burden of unintended pregnancies revealed that of the 2.0 million publicly funded births in the United States, 51% resulted from unintended pregnancies, accounting for \$11.1 billion in costs-half of the total public expenditures on births. In seven of the states, the costs for births from unintended pregnancies exceeded a half billion dollars.

Among Norwegian women, there is still evidence to suggest the high numbers of unintended pregnancies despite the widespread availability of contraception. One of the indicators of unwanted pregnancies which is rate of abortion was found to be high in young women, with observed rates rising from 26.3 to 27.6 per 1000 women aged 15–24 years between 2001 and 2011. As reported by Henry et al., total economic costs from Unintended Pregnancies in Norwegian women aged 15–24 years were estimated to be 164 million Norwegian Kroner (NOK).

Apart from the economic costs of unintended pregnancies, the emotional and health burden of unintended pregnancies among women and their families is also worthy of attention. Pregnancy intent is an important determinant of both short- and long-term maternal and child health outcomes (Gipson et al., 2008). A study on pregnancy intention, specifically unwanted and ambivalent, unveiled that an unwanted or unintended pregnancy was an indicator of increased

risk for some poor birth and maternal outcomes and should be considered in interventions aimed at improving the health of mother and child (Mohllajee et al., 2007, Dehingia et al., 2020). Unintended pregnancy also contributes to increased risks of maternal depression and parenting stress (Bahk et al., 2015).

# **3.2** The economic and health benefits of oral contraception

The above pieces of evidence bolster the need for a form of contraception like oral contraceptives and below are highlighted the economic and health benefits of oral contraceptives and contraceptives in general.

- Educational attainment It has been reported by (Edlund and Machado 2015) that young women's access to oral contraceptives has improved education rates by 10%. A working paper by Hock (2007) finds that more than 250,000 women over age 30 were able to obtain bachelor's degrees as a result of contraception use hence decreasing dropout rates by 35%.
- Career Studies by Goldin and Katz 2002 and Steingrimsdottir 2016 have disclosed that women are making up higher proportions of individuals with careers in professional fields. Among college-educated women, access to the contraceptive pill can be attributed to some of this increase.
- Poverty As reported by Browne and LaLumia (2014) access to the contraceptive pill by age 20 reduces the probability that a woman is in poverty by one percentage point to 12.2 percent. In addition, it unveiled that contraceptive access impacts women's expectations for themselves and sense of empowerment more broadly, which may contribute to a reduction in poverty.
- Earnings Early legal access to oral contraception improved women's wages more rapidly than women without access to the pill, resulting in substantially higher earnings by their 30s and 40s (Bailey et al., 2013).
- Workforce market Access to oral contraceptive pills contributed to delayed motherhood and a 14-15% increase in the participation rates of women in the workforce and the number of hours worked by women (Bailey 2006).
- Impacts on the next generation Due to the legalization of contraceptives, many women have been able to delay childbearing to get an education and earn more, thus reducing the number of children born into poverty (Bailey, Malkova, and Norling 2014). As birth

are retimed with oral contraceptive use, children are born to households where pregnancy is well intended, and child arrival is well prepared for. Also, the economic effects of contraceptive use have extended from childhood to adulthood with a substantial reduction in the number of adults living in poverty (Bailey, Malkova, McLaren 2018). Bailey 2013 also reported that children born to mothers with access to oral contraceptives were more like to complete higher levels of education. Research from Indonesia by Utomo et al., there has been a substantial decrease in the risk of maternal mortality which can be attributed to use of contraception.

These economic and health benefits of oral contraception are proof of how important oral contraceptive use is for women. Therefore, we would further delve into studies that either prove there is a risk or there is no risk of mortality due to Oral contraceptives.

#### 3.3 Risk of Morbidity due to Oral contraceptive use

A study by Busund et al., has reported an association of Oral contraceptive use and an increased risk of breast cancer in the NOWAC (Norwegian women and cancer) Cohort study. More research on Oral contraceptive use has also revealed a raised risk of suicide behavior through the impact of sex hormones on mood (Marrocco & McEwen, 2016; McEwen & Milner, 2017). While some studies have found an increase in depression symptoms among women who take combination tablets (Gregory et al., 2018; Kulkarni, 2007; Skovlund et al., 2016), others have found a negative association or reported null findings (Keyes et al., 2013; Toffol et al., 2011, 2012; Worly, Gur, & Schaffir, 2018; Zethraeus et al., 2017). The impact of sex hormones on mood and behavior is well documented (McEwen & Milner, 2017), and some prior research has found a positive link between OC usage and depressed symptoms (Skovlund, Morch, Kessing, & Lidegaard, 2016), albeit the findings are inconsistent (Keyes et al., 2013). The findings of a study conducted by Skovlund et al. (2018) utilizing Danish registry-based data and a sample size of nearly half a million women revealed a positive connection between contraceptive use and the likelihood of suicide behavior (attempts or completions) among women. The analysis revealed that the probability of a first suicide attempt was highest in the first two months of contraceptive use and remained raised for at least one year following the start of use; women aged 15–19 were at greater risk than women aged 20 or older. According to the findings of their study, the probability of having a suicidal event increased after starting contraceptive use. With regards to stroke, it remains a debatable issue in the existing literature

whether women taking OCPs are at an increased risk of stroke (Petitti et al. 1996; Schwartz et al. 1997; Nightingale and Farmer 2004; Yang et al. 2009; Gallagher et al. 2011). It is observed in a meta-analysis that females who currently take OCPs have a higher risk of first-ever ischemic stroke (IS) (Xu et al., 2015). Similar results in another meta-analysis showed that current OCP use led to a slight increase in hemorrhagic stroke (HS) incidence (Xu et al., 2018).

# 3.4 Risk of Mortality due to Oral Contraceptive use

A large number of studies conducted in developed countries (especially in the United Kingdom and the United States) found that there is a positive correlation between oral contraceptive (OC) use and risk of mortality from various circulatory system diseases, for instance; pulmonary embolism, cerebral thrombosis, and myocardial infarction (Beral 1976; Beral & Kay 1977; Bickerstaff ER, &Holmes 1967; Illis et al. 1965; Inman &Vessey 1968; Mann & Inman 1975; Mann, & Vessey 1975; Oliver 1970; Radford & Oliver 1973; Sartwell 1969; Stolley et al.1975; Vessey & Doll 1975; Zilkha 1965). In addition, various research has been conducted in many other countries to explore whether the increased prevalence of oral contraceptive use among women of reproductive age increased mortality from circulatory system diseases (Beral 1976; Belsey et al. 1979; Tietze 1979). However, whether these findings are applicable in the developing countries context remains a matter of concern for health and family planning administrators (Belsey et al., 1979; Tietze, 1979).

Although there is a concern about this possibility, there are no established reports of a possible link between OC usage and an increased risk of death. All-cause mortality is not associated with the use of OCs in most studies (Charlton et al. 2014; Lu et al. 2011; Phillips, Trivers, and Graff-Iversen 2007; Graff-Iversen et al. 2006), but some studies (Hannaford et al. 2010) have found that OC users have a slight advantage in terms of all-cause mortality.

## 3.4.1 Mortality research showing no protective factor and no risk of mortality

The Oral Contraception Study conducted by the Royal College of General Practitioners (RCGP) featured 1,400 family doctors from around the United Kingdom who recruited approximately 23,000 women who were already using oral contraceptives and another 23,000 women who had never used one. They aimed to describe the long-term effects of oral contraceptives on mortality followed by a cohort study with 25 years of follow-up. Findings

showed a similarity in ever users and never users of oral contraceptives; that is there was no association between oral contraceptive use and risk of mortality though it was statistically nonsignificant when comparing ever users (present and former users combined) to never users the study (Royal College of general practitioners 1999). Nevertheless, there was a difference between current and recent users of oral contraceptives and women who stopped using contraceptives. Reports showed the relative risk of death from ovarian cancer was lesser, and the risk of mortality with cervical cancer and cerebrovascular disease among current and recent (within ten years) users was increased.

Another study by Graff-Iversen et al. (2006) examines the relationship between total and cardiovascular disease (CVD) mortality and the use of oral contraceptives (OC) in a cohort of women who had a disproportionately high prevalence of smoking and elevated serum cholesterol levels. From 1985 to 1988, the researchers invited a total of 29,053 women between the ages of 20 to 49 years old to participate in a health survey. They discovered 518 deaths, with ten of them occurring among the women using OC at the study's inception. In the study, two of the three CVD deaths among OC users occurred during the first year of follow-up. Three women died during the study's follow-up among non-smokers who used OC; cardiovascular disease was not the cause of any fatalities. The conclusion was that results were consistent with previous evidence which does not indicate that mortality from all causes or CVD is elevated in women using OC.

Nur et al. (2019) investigated the long-term impact of OC use on overall and cancer-specific mortality in Swedish women. Among 2120 women with breast cancer, 1268 admitted to using OC at some point in their lives, and 254 died within ten years of being diagnosed. All-cause mortality showed no association with mortality for OC ever-users, and there was also no association with breast cancer-specific mortality for OC ever-users compared to never-users. Moreover, according to their findings, among women with primary breast cancer, OC ever-users were not associated with a higher overall or breast cancer-specific mortality when compared to never-users.

In a study by Vessey et al., 1989, the objective of the study was to see whether the use of oral contraceptives influences mortality. A cohort study of 17,032 women were followed up on an annual basis for an average of nearly 16 years. During the period of recruitment each woman was aged 25-39, married, a white British subject, willing to participate, and either a current user

of oral contraceptives or a current user of a diaphragm or intrauterine device (without previous exposure to the pill). A total of 238 deaths occurred during the follow up period. From the findings of this analysis, there was no significant evidence of any overall effect of oral contraceptive use on mortality.

Another study conducted by Vessey et al. (2003) among 17 032 women aged 25–39 years explored mortality concerning oral contraceptive use and smoking. Based on the 889 deaths analyzed, they found that women who had ever used oral contraceptives had increased the mortality from cervical cancer and decreased mortality from other uterine and ovarian cancers. Furthermore, for women who smoke 15 or more cigarettes per day, it is found that oral contraceptives increase the risk of death from ischemic heart disease. Finally, their study concluded that on overall mortality, there was no harmful effect. However, death from all causes was more than twice as high in smokers of 15 or more cigarettes a day as in non-smokers.

Colditz GA (1994) conducted his study to investigate the mortality risk for women who had ever used oral contraceptives compared to women who had never used oral contraceptives. Between 1976 and 1988, Colditz conducted a prospective cohort study in which 166 755 women between 30 and 55 years old took part. With the number of fatalities (2879), findings demonstrate that there was overall no difference in mortality between women who had ever used oral contraceptives and women who had never used oral contraceptives. Therefore, based on this study, Colditz concludes that; the use of oral contraceptives is safe; no evidence from this study indicates that long periods of oral contraceptive use are associated with an increased risk of long-term mortality.

Using the Nurse health study: a prospective cohort study, Charlton et al. (2014) aimed to explore whether the use of oral contraceptives is associated with all-cause and cause-specific mortality. They followed 121701 participants for 36 years. Their results found no association between ever use of oral contraceptives and all-cause mortality. However, violent or accidental deaths were more likely among the former and current user when compared to never-users. Moreover, a longer usage duration was more strongly connected with some causes of death, such as premature mortality from breast cancer and lower mortality rates from ovarian cancer. Observation showed a connection between specific outcomes and a more extended period since the last usage, including a favorable connection with violent or accidental deaths.

#### **3.4.2** Mortality research showing a protective factor from mortality

When comparing ever users of OCs to never users, the following studies found a statistically significant reduction in the probability of all-cause death (Vessey 2010; Hannaford et al., 2010, Britt & Short 2012). Data from the Oxford/Family Planning Association trial revealed there was a statistically significant difference in all-cause mortality between users of OCs at the time of study admission and users of the diaphragm or intrauterine device over a twenty-year follow-up period. (Vessey et al., 2010). However, the researchers stated they cannot be sure that this represents a beneficial effect of OCs, but the fact that the Rate Ratios decline with duration of OC use supports this view. In this analysis, the small number of categories of deaths that occurred limits the study's ability to detect substantial differences in risk between contraceptive groups. There was evidence of a slightly increased risk of cardiovascular death among pill users, primarily due to more myocardial infractions, despite that none of the cause-specific comparisons were statistically significant (Vessey et al., 2010).

Hannaford et al. (2010) used a prospective cohort study that started in 1968 with the mortality data supplied by participating general practitioners. They wanted to observe whether mortality risk among women who have used oral contraceptives differs from that of never users. In that study, around 378006-woman years of observation among never users of oral contraception and 819175-woman years among ever users participated, and they observed for up to 39 years. Results show that among never users of oral contraception, 1747 deaths occurred compared to 2864 death in ever-users. In addition, ever-users of oral contraception had a significantly lower death rate from any cause than never users

Furthermore, they claim that there was no correlation between overall mortality and the length of oral contraceptive use, while some disease-specific relationships exist. There was a significant increase in the relative risk of death from any cause between ever users and never users in women aged below 45 years who had stopped using oral contraceptives 5-9 years ago, but not in those who had stopped using oral contraceptives in distant past. The findings conclude that oral contraception was not associated with an increased long-term risk of death in the large UK cohort. There was a net benefit from using oral contraception.

Since oral contraceptive use can affect various health outcomes through different mechanisms, mortality provides a uniquely relevant estimate by combining different causes of death.

It is therefore important, that information be gathered through more epidemiological studies of human population (in this instance, the NOWAC study), in order that abnormal patterns of death among women using oral contraceptives maybe recognized as soon as possible and appropriate corrective measures instituted (Inman et al., 1968, Vessy et al., 1968).

In view of the range of effects of oral contraceptives we considered that the overall risk of mortality in the group of women involved in the NOWAC study would be of the greatest interest and contribute further to existing knowledge on oral contraceptives on whether oral contraceptive use poses a risk or not.

After reviewing the health risks of pregnancy and the benefits and risks of OCs, it is pertinent that we observe closely that the hazards of using oral contraceptives is not higher than the hazards of an unintended pregnancy.

#### 3.5 Covariates

Unrecognized confounding factors are a significant analytic concern that can lead to erroneous conclusions (S. Greenland & Morgenstern, 2001) However, if these covariates are identified, they may help to "explain away" spurious associations and make possible the detection of significant relationships. The following are covariates as reported by respondents in the study. Possible association with Oral contraceptives and the outcomes we were looking for is examined in further detail below.

#### 3.5.1 Age

From a Canadian study researching the use of oral contraceptives in association with age as a sociodemographic factor, an inverse relationship was observed with OC use decreasing with increase in age (Rotermann et al., 2015). Another study by Daniels and Abma 2018 supports this evidence where a study on current use of oral contraceptives unveiled that OC use was highest among women between age 20 -29 and was lowest among women aged 40-49.

Atramont et al.,2019 that studied the association of age with short-term and long-term mortality among patients discharged from intensive care units in France revealed that aging was associated with an increased risk of mortality among elderly patients in the 3 years after hospital ICU discharge, while excess long-term mortality was highest in young surviving patients, hence concluding that increase in age increases risk of mortality. In a systematic review and metaanalysis by Biswas et al., 2021 studying the association of sex, age, and comorbidities with mortality in COVID-19 patients, it was found that patients with age  $\geq$ 50 years confirmed with SARS-CoV-2 infection were associated with 15.4-folds significantly increased risk of mortality as compared to patients with age <50 years. These provide the basis for using age as a covariate (and adjust for it) to ensure it is not acting as a confounder in this analysis.

#### 3.5.2 Body mass index

Increasing body mass index (BMI) is also recognized as a risk factor mortality as seen with aging. In a global status report on noncommunicable diseases by (Alwan 2010) WHO states that: "Mortality rates increase with increasing degrees of overweight, as measured by BMI. To achieve optimal health, the median BMI for adult populations should be in the range of 21 to 23 kg/m2, while the goal for individuals should be to maintain a BMI in the range 18.5 to 24.9 kg/m2, and moderate to severe risk of co-morbidities for a BMI less than 30 kg/m2.

In a 2011 study by the Norwegian institute of public health, 1 in 5 Norwegians were reported to be obese. There was no significant difference between genders, except for a female dominance in the older age groups (Helsedirektorat 2011). Heather et al in 2010 published reports on risk factors for mortality in the Nurses' Health Study which also indicated increasing risk of mortality with increased BMI. On the other hand, based on the association between BMI and Oral contraceptive use, a 2016 data analysis of among Ethiopian adult women of reproductive age revealed that there is a significant association with oral contraceptive use and BMI. The analysis showed that use of combined OC increases the odds of overweight/obesity by two times among adult women of reproductive age after controlling for potential confounders. However, when Mayeda et al., 2014 reported the weight and body composition changes during oral contraceptive use among obese and normal weight women, the findings revealed that OCs are not associated with short term weight or body composition change in obese women. In line with this, BMI was still included to ensure it still was not a confounder in this analysis.

#### 3.5.3 Education

Education is a social determinant of health, both in form of what knowledge an individual has

access to and the possibility of understanding and applying it, but more importantly by the way it gives access to occupation and salary, and the lifestyle associated with these. As a social determinant of health, a lack of education has proven to be a risk factor for mortality and morbidity (Alwan 2010).

In a CDC report by Daniels et al., 2018 current pill use increased with higher education—4.9% of women without a high school diploma or GED were using the pill compared with 16.3% of women with a bachelor's degree or higher. Another study which supports the association between education and contraceptives by Tanfer and Horn 1985 stated that better educated women are much more likely than less-educated women to practice contraception, and women who work outside of the home are more likely than those who do not use contraceptives. In terms of mortality, people who have access to education are more likely to live longer and healthier lives. Not only does education provide the opportunity for an upward mobility but also for better financial circumstances (Blakely and Tobias 2008, Mackenbach 2003). Lesser years of education or none at all is linked to lower income, which is linked to poorer health. Numerous studies show that people in lower socioeconomic situations experience more obesity, asthma, diabetes, heart disease and ultimately death than people in better financial circumstances (Halpern et al., 2020, Hummer and Hernandez 2013, Wamala et al., 2006). In Norway, this trend is also visible with increased mortality associated with lower levels of education (Strand et al., 2010, Fawcett et al., 2005).

# 3.5.4 Alcohol consumption

Alcohol overuse is considered one of the major risk factors for non-communicable diseases such as cardiovascular disease which has also been linked to oral contraceptive use by several studies (Roach et al., 2015, Gillum et al., 2000). In a large European cohort by Ferrari et al., 2014 using the EPIC study, alcohol use was positively associated with overall mortality, violent death and injuries, but marginally to CVD/CHD. Absolute risks of death observed in EPIC suggest that alcohol is an important determinant of total mortality. Alcohol use has also been described by WHO as a causal factor in this same regard. In addition, there are studies showing an association between Alcohol consumption and oral contraceptive use, where using both has shown to increase lipid levels and lipoproteins in the blood (Kruszon-Moran et al., 1988). And

increased blood lipid levels have been indicated as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease Steinberg 2005)

#### 3.5.5 Cigarette smoking status

Cigarette smoking has been indicated as a risk factor for diseases like lung cancer, cardiovascular disease and other types of diseases (Allen et al., 2019, Teo et al., 2006). Worldwide, there are about 1.3 billion smokers, most of which live in developing countries (Teo et al., 2006). Smoking as a social determinant of health also displays variation in prevalence within population subgroups. Lower socioeconomic groups have a higher prevalence of smoking (Kaczynsky et al., 2008). The world health organization has also reported that higher levels of daily smoking was found to be associated with lower levels of educations (Alwan 2010).

Lidegaard in 1999 studied the association between smoking, oral contraceptives and thromboembolic disease. The author concluded that the combination of smoking with oral contraceptive use may have a synergistic effect on risks of acute myocardial infarction and cerebral thromboembolic attack (but not of venous thromboembolism), particularly among users of high dose of OC

Also in 2010, Vessey et al., published reports on the factors affecting mortality with special reference to OC use. It was concluded that the overall mortality ratio for all women smoking 15+ cigarettes daily was 2.25 times higher compared to a non-smoker

# 3.5.6 Physical activity

Physical activity promotes health and longevity (Bauman et al., 2004, Kartzmarzyk et al., 2003) and increasing participation in regular exercise has been a major public health goal. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), and the American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM) recommend a minimum of 30 minutes of moderate activity on most days of the week (US department of health 1996). When Leitzmann et al., studied Physical activity recommendations and risk of mortality, they reported that following physical activity guidelines is associated with 27 % lower risk of mortality. A 32 % mortality benefit could also be achieved by engaging in less than recommended activity levels. This is also supported by Mok et al.,

2019 who reported that middle aged and older adults, including those with cardiovascular disease and cancer, can gain substantial longevity benefits by becoming more physically active, irrespective of past physical activity levels and established risk factors. And also, that considerable population health impacts can be attained with consistent engagement in physical activity during mid to late life. Zhao et al., 2020 have also reported that adults who engage in leisure time aerobic and muscle strengthening activities at levels recommended by the 2018 physical activity guidelines for Americans show greatly reduced risk of all cause and cause specific mortality. In relation to Oral contraceptive use and Physical activity, Merians et al 1985 studied change in blood lipid level among exercising and exercising women who were OC users or non-users. They concluded that blood lipid level decreased among progestin using exercising women

#### 3.5.7 Number of children

As earlier discussed, unintended pregnancies are the leading reasons for why many women opt for oral contraceptive use. Unintended pregnancies have deprived women of an education, presence in the labor force and the increased psychological problems of an abortion. Women are also at a high risk of maternal mortality especially in developing countries. The World Health Organization estimates that more than 300,000 women died from pregnancy-related causes in 2015. That's 830 women every day (Our world in data, 2021). This begs the need for oral contraceptive use especially when the pregnancy is unintended. Therefore, increased number of children increases the need for oral contraceptive use (Gaddalla et al., 1985) A study in Bangladesh has unveiled that woman whose husbands wanted fewer children had higher contraceptive use compared to when both wanted the same number or when the husband wanted more children (Hossein et al., 2018)

#### **4** Materials and methods

This a study drawing data from the NOWAC study which is a representative national prospective cohort study that started in 1991. We used data collected in this study to examine the association between long-term oral contraceptive use and mortality. Information regarding the NOWAC study and its participants was obtained from the NOWAC study homepage on the internet, as well as articles describing the cohort (Lund et al., 2008 http://site.uit.no/nowac/.)

# 4.1 The Norwegian Women and Cancer (NOWAC) Study

The primary purpose of NOWAC was to create a large prospective cohort designed to study the relationship between internal and external hormones and female cancers with a focus on breast cancer. The University of Tromsø–The Arctic University of Norway initiated this study. All women were sampled randomly from the Norwegian Central Person Register, which contains information on all Norwegian inhabitants, including a unique identification number consisting of the date of birth and five other numbers giving a unique combination (Lund et al., 1980). This personal number is used in all linkages to give a complete follow-up through the national registers.

# 4.1.1 Questionnaires in the Norwegian Women and Cancer study

At the present time there exists one baseline and three follow-up rounds of questionnaires. Each round was separated by 4-8 years of follow-up time. The women were mailed an invitation with a photo booklet of all OCs or hormonal replacement therapy brands and a questionnaire. The questionnaire was used to collect information on oral contraceptive use including Status of oral contraceptive use, duration of use, status (dead or alive) collected from population registry, Hormone Replacement Therapy, age at entry, age at the start of periods, menopausal age, age of OC start, smoking habits, alcohol, and other relevant variables such as weight, height, dietary habits, family history of breast cancer.

# 4.1.2 Follow-up in the Norwegian Women and Cancer study

During the years 1991–97 altogether 179 387 women were invited, of whom 102 540 women (57%) aged 30–70 years returned a questionnaire to the Institute of Community Medicine, University of Tromsø, Norway. In 1998–2002, all women received an invitation to fill in a

second questionnaire, and 80 693 women replied (response rate 81% corrected for death and emigration).

During 2003–06 another 130 577 women born 1943–57 were invited, of whom 63 232 (48.4%) returned an eight-page questionnaire. Figure below displays the different series of questionnaires and the rounds of follow-up to which they belong, as well as the years in which these series were administered

The original researchers received approval from The Regional Committee for Medical Research Ethics to collect and store questionnaire information, blood samples, and tumor tissue from the present. All women filled in informed consent for later linkages to the register of death certificates in Statistics Norway. All data were stored and handled according to the permission given by the Norwegian Data Inspectorate.



Figure 4.1 Cohort enrolment in the NOWAC study: participants, questionnaires, and baseline/follow-ups

# 4.2 Study population

We used information from the first questionnaire for the women enrolled in 1996 and later. For the women enrolled in 1991, we used information from both the first and second questionnaire, starting follow-up in 1998 to ensure that most of the women had ceased their use of oral contraceptives at study baseline.

The total number of included participants in the initial study population was 161 876. A total of 6794 participants did not have the OC use status; hence, we excluded them from the analysis. In addition, we excluded 33 respondents who emigrated or died before start of follow up, and participants who had missing information on important variables such as smoking status, Body mass index, alcohol drinking and education. Hence the total number of included participants in our final cohort sample were N=126 786. Figure 4.2 below displays the flow of participants eligible for our study produced by those series that contained relevant data on exposure and outcome.

Total number of participants in initial study population N = 161 876

Excluded due to

Women who had: Missing data on OC use = 6 794 Zero or less follow-up time = 33

Missing data on: BMI = 3 474 Daily alcohol consumption=7 296 Education=6 559 Physical activity =7 938 Smoking status= 2 996

Final cohort sample = 126786 women

Figure 4.2 - Flowchart representing the exclusion criteria for the selection of final cohort sample.

#### 4.3 Analysis of data

The following outlines how variables were gathered and coded from the NOWAC study and what statistical methods were used to assess the information.

# 4.3.1 Exposure and outcomes in the material

In this study, Oral contraceptive use was determined by self-reporting in a questionnaire. See appendix A for an example questionnaire from the NOWAC study.

#### **4.3.1.1** Oral contraceptive use

The exposure variable for Oral contraceptive use was obtained from a nominal scale included in the original questionnaires. Participants were asked to "Have you at any point used the pill or minipill after 1991" with participants selecting "yes or no". Further questions were, "If yes, how many years have you used the same contraceptive pill continuously? How old were you the first time you used the pill or mini pill? Oral contraceptive use existed in the data set as a binary variable and was recoded into a two-category variable in preparation for analysis. Participants that selected "no" to OC use were coded as "0=never-user", while participants that had at any point used oral contraceptives were coded as "1=ever users". Category "neverusers" was used as reference group in the cox regression analysis. Number of years of Oral contraceptive use was also determined by recoding ever users of Oral contraceptives into "<1-4 years", "5-9years", and "≥10". This manner of recoding Oral contraceptive use has previously been demonstrated on the same dataset and appears to be a functional manner of preparing the variable for cox regression analysis (Busund et.al). Age at first oral contraceptive use was another exposure variable recoded in "<20 years" "20-24 years", "25-29 years", and "≥30 years". Never users of OC were considered the reference group because they have not been exposed to oral contraceptive use, hence would not indicate any protective or risk factor. To facilitate recall, the questionnaires contained a photo booklet with pictures and names of the different OC brands available on the Norwegian market up to the time of mailing. As of 2015, no more than 42 different OC brands have been sold in Norway. The internal validity with regard to OC use assessment in NOWAC has been found to be satisfying (Lund et al., 2008).

#### 4.3.1.2 Outcome measures

Information on participants who had died during follow up were all obtained from the Norwegian death registry and are well-updated each year. Participants are regularly tracked with the 11-digit Norwegian personal number which is linked to the Norwegian death registry. Participants gave informed consent on use of information from the death registry. The number of deaths used in this analysis are accurate as of the study year 2019.

#### 4.3.2 Confounders

Confounders in this study as previously discussed were deemed of importance to the outcomes at hand and included in statistical modeling to assess their confounding effect on the association between Oral contraceptive use and the outcomes:

Age at enrolment was derived from respondents' year of birth. Age was used in the analysis as a continuous variable.

BMI at enrolment was calculated from participants' specification of current height and weight. BMI was recoded into the following categories in: "normal weight (BMI = 20-24.)"; "underweight (BMI < 20)"; "overweight (BMI = 25-29)" and "obese (BMI  $\geq$ 30)". The category for normal weight was used as reference category in Cox regression analysis.

Duration of education was obtained by asking participants about their total length of education or vocational training. Education was grouped as following: "0-9 years", "10-12 years" "13-16" and " $\geq$  17 years". Category 1 was used as reference category in Cox regression analysis.

Alcohol consumption was recorded by asking participants whether they were completely abstinent, or if not, then how often they consumed one unit of beer ( $\frac{1}{2}$  liter), wine (1 glass) or spirits (drinks), on average during the last year. Options included "never/seldom", "1 per month", "2-3 per month", "1 per week", "2-4 per week", "5-6 per week" and "1+ per day". Consumption was then calculated into grams per day. The data was recoded into four groups: "0.1-4.0 grams per day", "never user", "4.1-9.9 grams per day" and " $\geq$  10 grams per day". Category "never user" was used as reference category in Cox regression analysis.

Information on Smoking was obtained by asking if they were current smokers. This study used the variable displaying current smoking status, coded as "never", "former" and "current". Category "never" was used as reference category in Cox regression analysis. Form the first 10 series of questionnaires in the NOWAC study, the questions did not ask about current smoking habits but was derived from respondents reporting how many cigarettes they were currently smoking per day.

Number of children was obtained by asking participants "Have you at any point been pregnant. If yes, fill out for each child you have given birth information about the year of birth and the number of months you breastfed (also fill in for stillbirths or for children who have died later in life). If you have not given birth, continue with the next question". Respondents without information on number of children were classified as "none" and was used as reference category in Cox regression. Respondents with information on number of children were recoded into the following categories "1-2", "3-4" and " $\geq$ 5".

#### 4.3.3 Statistical methods

The following outlines the statistical methods used to assess the data gathered from the NOWAC study. This included both the descriptive statistics used to gain an overview of the distribution of variables within the selection, and the Cox regression analysis used to assess the association between exposure and outcomes.

#### **4.3.3.1** Descriptive statistics

Descriptive statistics were used to obtain information on the study participants. Means and standard deviations were used to assess the dispersion of data, or median and percentiles if data were asymmetrically spread or prone to outliers. Visual binning was used to categorize variables into an appropriate number of bins based on pre-specified cut-off values or a pre-specified number of bins. Variables were grouped according to never-users or ever- users, to more easily compare the groups.

#### 4.3.3.2 Cox regression models

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM Statistical Package for Social Sciences-SPSS V. 28. Cox proportional hazard regression was selected as the main method of analyzing the strength of association due to the dichotomous nature of the outcomes of interest and the prospective design of the study (Jekel et.al 2014). This would also allow controlling for possible confounders. A Cox regression model was made for the outcome mortality as the dependent variable. Hazard ratios (HRs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were reported.

Univariate analysis of covariates against the outcome was performed preliminary. This was done to assess the predictive power of the covariates for the outcome. Significant variables were then included one by one in building a model for the outcome. Insignificant variables were finally added to the model to check for new significance levels. When building the final model, covariates that had a confounding effect of a certain magnitude on the main estimate of association were included. The level of confounding deemed necessary for a covariate to be included was set at <5%. Confounding was determined by comparing age-adjusted HRs for Oral contraceptives to HRs for Oral contraceptives when including each of the covariates separately. If HRs changed by 5% or more for any of the level of duration of OC use associations with the outcomes, the covariate was considered to have a confounding effect on the association between OC use and the outcomes and was subsequently included in the final model. In cases of doubt, when several levels lay close to but below the 5% level, we chose to include the covariate on basis of previously described theoretical knowledge that a relationship exists between these variables, the exposure and outcome. If a covariate was found to be a confounder for the association to the outcome, it was included in the model. In the end, based on assessment of confounders as well as theory, we ended up with a model containing age, as well as the following lifestyle factors: BMI, education levels, alcohol consumption, smoking, physical activity and number of children. Of these, alcohol, number of children and BMI were the only variables not reaching the 5% confounding level but were included in analysis, nevertheless based on theoretical knowledge.

The Kaplan-Maier estimator was used to compare the survival of users and non-users of OC. The log-rank test was used to compare survival curves between groups.

#### 5 Results

This chapter presents all descriptive and analytical results from statistical analysis of the data.

#### 5.1 Descriptive statistics of data

Descriptive data in our selection was divided in distribution of outcome variables, and distribution of other covariates in the selection.

#### **5.1.1** Descriptive statistics of variables

In our population of 126 786 women with information on oral contraceptive use, 51 988 were never users (41.0%) and 74 798 were ever users (59.0%) at last report on oral contraceptive use. Ever users reported a mean 3.0-year duration of use. Compared with never users, ever users were more likely to have smoked. After years of follow-up, we observed 11 310 deaths. The results showed that the mean age for the two outcomes were as follows: For Dead, 48.9 ±8.01 years and for alive, 54.1 ±9.2 years. The mean age for ever users 47.7 ± 7.9 years while the mean age for never users is 51.8 ±8.2 years. The results showed that the average age at inclusion/entry was higher in never-users than ever users. Maximum age at enrolment was 70 years, minimum was 31. Oral contraceptive use (sub-grouped by duration of use) at baseline were distributed as follows: Never user = 41.0%; <1-4 years = 34.8%; 5-9 years = 13.3%; ≥10 years = 10.9%.

The proportion of respondents aged  $\geq$ 50 years were higher in never users of OC (57.0%) than ever users (38.7%). The average BMI was higher in never users than ever-users of OC, with overweight and obese respondents representing 28.1% and 8.5% of OC users compared to 31.9% and 11.3% of non-users. Duration (years) of education was higher in OC users (13.1 ± 3.5 years) than non-users (12.0 ± 3.5 year). The daily intake of alcohol was higher in users of OC than non-users (4.6 ± 5.5g/day vs. 3.2 ± 4.6g/day). Non-smokers were more prevalent in non-users (43.1%) than users (31.7%) of OC. After adjusting these variables with age, we found Smoking, Physical activity and education were important confounders when assessing the association between OC use and mortality.

Characteristics			
	[ALL]	Never user	Ever user
	N=126 786	N=51 988	N=74 798
Age (Mean ± SD)	49.4 (8.3)	51.8 (8.2)	47.7 (7.9)
Age			
31 - 40	23 036 (18.2%)	5 705 (11.0%)	17 331 (23.2%)
41 - 50	45 096 (35.6%)	16 629 (32.0%)	28 467 (38.1%)
>=51	58 654 (46.2%)	29 654 (57.0%)	29 000 (38.7%)
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) (Mean± SD)	24.7 (4.0)	25.1 (4.2)	24.5 (3.9)
BMI			
Less than 20	8 592 (6.8%)	3 191 (6.1%)	5 401 (7.2%)
20-24	68 345 (54.0%)	26 330 (50.7%)	42 015 (56.2%)
25-29	37 600 (29.6%)	16 598 (31.9%)	21 002 (28.1%)
≥30	12 249(9.6%)	5 869 (11.3%)	6 380 (8.5%)
Years of education (years) (Mean± SD)	12.6 (3.5)	12.0 (3.5)	13.1 (3.5)
Years of education			
< 10	25 628 (20.2%)	14 162 (27.2%)	11 466 (15.3%)
10 - 12	43 212 (34.1%)	17 857 (34.4%)	25 355 (33.9%)
13 – 16	37 180 (29.3%)	13 206 (25.4%)	23 974 (32.2%)
≥17	20 766 (16.4%)	6 763 (13.0%)	14 003 (18.6%)
Daily intake of alcohol(g/d)	4.0 (5.2)	3.2 (4.6)	4.6 (5.5)
Daily intake of alcohol			
Never	23 829 (18.8%)	13 809 (26.6%)	10 020 (13.4%)
0.1 - 4.0	58 715 (46.3%)	24 076 (46.3%)	34 639 (46.3%)
4.1 – 9.9	30 749 (24.3%)	10 117 (19.5%)	20 632 (27.6%)
≥10	13 493 (10.6%)	3 986 (7.6%)	9 507 (12.7%)
Smoking status			
Never	46 164 (36.4%)	22 425 (43.1%)	23 739 (31.7%)
Former	44 149 (34.8%)	16 328 (31.4%)	27 821 (37.2%)
Current	36 473 (28.8%)	13 235 (25.5%)	23 238 (31.1%)
Physical activity	5.7 (1.8)	5.6 (1.9)	5.7 (1.8)
Physical activity			

Table 5.1 Distribution of covariates according to ever and never users of oral contraceptives (reported as means and s.d, or proportion and total group numbers. Total n respondents and proportion of total study population is reported for each variable):

0-3	15 200 (12.0%)	6 479 (12.5%)	8 721 (11.7%)
4 – 7	91 068 (71.8%)	37 005 (71.2%)	54 063 (72.3%)
8-10	20 518 (16.2%)	8 504 (16.4%)	12 041 (16.1%)
Age at first use			
Never user	51 988 (41.0%)	51 988 (100.0%)	NA
< 20	18 165 (14.3%)	NA	18 165 (24.3%)
20 - 24	30 467 (24.0%)	NA	30 467 (40.7%)
25 - 29	13 022 (10.3%)	NA	13 022 (17.4%)
≥30	6 330 (4.9%)	NA	6 330 (8.5%)
Duration of OC use	3.0 (4.6)		3.0(4.6)
Never user	51 988 (41.0%)	51 988 (100.0%)	NA
<1-4	44 110 (34.8%)		44 110 (58.9%)
5 – 9	16 811 (13.3%)		16 811 (22.5%)
≥10	13 877 (10.9%)		13 877 (18.6%)
No of children	2.2 (1.2)	2.3 (1.3)	2.1 (1.1)
No of children			
None	11 997 (9.5%)	5 681 (10.9%)	6 296 (8.4%)
1 - 2	69 190 (54.6%)	25 744 (49.5%)	43 446 (58.1%)
3-4	42 208 (33.3%)	18 521 (35.6%)	23 687 (31.7%)
≥5	3 441 (2.6%)	2 042 (4.0%)	1 369 (1.8%)
Mortality			
Alive	115, 476 (91.1%)	45 798 (88.1%)	69 678 (93.2%)
Dead	11 310 (8.9%)	6 190 (11.9%)	5 120 (6.85%)
Follow-up time	17.8 (4.4)	17.8(4.6)	17.8 (4.3)

PA grouped "low" – "high".

Daily intake of alcohol measured in grams per day.

Smoking status at enrolment, reported as proportion "never, former, current" smoker. NA: Not applicable

Physical activity score was slightly higher in OC users, than never user  $(5.6 \pm 1.9 \text{ vs } 5.7 \pm 1.8)$ . Approximately one-third of the respondents of OC use started using OC at < 20 years (24.3%), and close to half of the population started using OC at 20 – 24 years. The average duration of use of OC was  $3.0 \pm 4.6$  years, with 58.9% of the respondents using it for <1 – 4 years. The remaining 22.5% and 18.6% used it for 5 – 9 years and ≥10 years. Regarding mortality, the mortality in non-users was nearly double that observed in OC users (11.9% vs. 6.9%). The average follow-up duration was not very different between groups, although the result was statistically significant due to the large sample size.



Figure 5.1. Kaplan-Meier estimator for the association between OC use and mortality

# 5.2 Cox regression analysis

Results for age-adjusted and multivariable adjusted analysis are presented in table 5.2 and table 5.3 respectively below. Never user of OC was used as reference group to which all other OC user groups were compared.

*Table 5.2. Hazard ratios (HR) and confidence intervals (CI) in age-adjusted models for duration of oral contraceptive use, age at first oral contraceptive use, and oral contraceptive use on mortality* 

	HR [95% CI]	p. value	P for trend
Duration of OC use (years):			
Never user			
Ever user (<1-4)	0.96 [0.92-1.00]	0.08	<0.001
(5-9)	0.93 [0.87-1.00]	0.04	
(≥10)	0.97 [0.91-1.04]	0.43	
Age at first use of OC (years):			
Never user			
Ever user (<20)	1.01 [0.94-1.08]	0.78	<0.001
(20-24)	0.94 [0.89-0.99]	0.04	
(25-29)	0.98 [0.92-1.04]	0.50	
(≥30)	0.94 [0.87-1.01]	0.12	
Oral contraceptive use:			
Never user			
Ever user	0.95 [0.92-1.00]	0.03	

Analysis was performed using univariate cox regression and was adjusted for age *HR*: Hazard ratio; CI: Confidence interval

1 / 0 /	1 /	1	2	
	HR	[95% CI]	p. value	P for
Duration OC use:				
Never user				
Ever user (<1-4)	0.99	[0.94-1.03]	0.75	<0.00
(5 0)	0.07	[0.01.1.04]	0.41	
(3 - 9)	0.97	[0.91-1.04]	0.41	
(>10)	0.07	[0 01 1 05]	0.47	
(≥10)	0.97	[0.91-1.05]	0.47	
Age at first use of OC:				
Never user				<0.001
Ever user (<20)	1.00	[0.93-1.08]	0.98	
(20 - 24)	0.98	[0.93-1.03]	0.51	
(25.20)	4.04	[0.05.4.00]	0.00	
(25-29)	1.01	[0.95-1.08]	0.69	
(≥30)	0.97	[0.91-1.05]	0.54	
Oral contra contine user				
Oral contraceptive use:				
Never user				
Ever user	0.98	[0.95-1.02]	0.5	

*Table5.3. Hazard ratios (HR) and confidence intervals (CI) in multivariate adjusted models for duration of oral contraceptive use, age at first oral contraceptive use, and oral contraceptive use on mortality* 

Adjusted for age as a continuous variable, alcohol use, smoking, number of children, physical activity, BMI, and education as categorical variables

Analysis was performed using multivariate Cox-regression analysis

# 5.2.1 Main findings for duration of OC use

Duration of oral contraceptive use is adjusted for age as a continuous variable and presented in the table 5.2 above. Never user of OC is used as reference group to which all other user groups were compared. The analysis shows that the hazard ratios for ever users <1-4 years is 0.96 [CI: 0.92-1.00], 5-9 years is 0.93 [CI: 0.87-1.00],  $\geq$ 10 years is 0.97 [CI: 0.91-1.04]. Statistical significance is only observed in users between 5 to 9 years and was p = 0.04 in age adjusted model. When adjusted for in the multivariate model as observed in table 5.3, there were no significant HRs where 0.99 (CI: 0.94 – 1.03) for <1-4 years, 0.97 (CI: 0.91 – 1.04) for 5-9 years, and 0.97 (CI: 0.91 – 1.05) for  $\geq$  10 years of OC use was observed. The HR indicated no association between increasing number of years of OC use levels and mortality

# 5.2.2 Main findings for age at first Oral contraceptive use

Age at first oral contraceptive use is adjusted for age as a continuous variable and presented in the table 5.2 above. Never user of OC is used as reference group to which all other age groups were compared. The analysis shows that the hazard ratios for ever users age group <20 years is 1.01 [CI: 0.94-1.08], 20-24 years is 0.94 [CI: 0.89-0.99], 25 - 29 years is 0.98 [CI: 0.92-1.04], and  $\geq$  30 years is 0.94 [CI: 0.87-1.01]. Statistical significance is only observed in users who started OC use between 20 – 24 years and was p = 0.04 in age adjusted model. When adjusted for in the multivariate model (Table 5.3), there were no significant HRs where 1.00 (CI: 0.93 – 1.08) for <20 years, 0.98 (CI: 0.93 – 1.03) for 20 - 24 years, 1.01 (CI: 0.95 – 1.08) for 25 - 29 years, and 0.97 (CI: 0.91 – 1.05) for  $\geq$  30 years for age at first OC use was observed. The hazard ratio for 20 - 24 years which showed a protective factor in the age adjusted model disappeared in the multivariate adjusted analysis and was no longer statistically significant. The HR indicated no association between increasing age at first oral contraceptive use and mortality.

#### 5.2.3 Main findings for Oral contraceptive use

Oral contraceptive use was adjusted for age as a continuous variable and presented in the table 5.2 above. Never user of OC was used as reference group to which all other ever users were compared. The analysis shows that the hazard ratio for ever users is 0.95 (CI: 0.92 - 1.00). Statistical significance was not observed in the univariate analysis (p 0.5). When adjusted for in the multivariate model (Table 5.3), HR was not significant 0.98 (CI: 0.95 - 1.02) (p=0.5). The HR indicated no association between oral contraceptive use and mortality.

#### 6 Discussion

This study is one of the studies that set out to explore the strength of association between the oral contraceptive use and the risk of mortality (particularly among Norwegian women) using a nationally representative prospective cohort data (NOWAC). The following discussion interprets the results from statistical description and analysis of data, with suggested explanations of results. Identified strengths and limitations in the present study were also assessed, as well as some implications for further research.

#### 6.1 Main findings

The findings of this study validate the hypothesis of no association between the exposure (i.e., Oral contraceptive use) and the outcome (i.e., Mortality). This means that there was no statistical difference in Mortality risk between ever users of Oral contraceptives and never users of oral contraceptives. Furthermore, compared with the different exposure variables such as age at first OC use and duration of OC use, there was still no association between these variables as the exposure and Mortality as the outcome.

#### Duration of Oral contraceptive use

From the univariate analysis, as the number of years OC was used increased, the age-adjusted analysis showed no association between the duration of Oral Contraceptive use and Mortality. This implies that oral contraceptive users who have used it for many years are not more exposed to a risk of Mortality than those who used it for a lesser number of years. Furthermore, the p-value for trend was statistically significant at <0.001, indicating a trend of no association across the different levels of the duration of Oral contraceptive use. The multivariate analysis also observed that as the duration of exposure to OC use increased, there was still no association between the duration of OC use and Mortality though the result was not statistically significant. However, the p-value for the trend was significant. These results contrast with the study by Charlton et al., 2014 who reported that a longer duration of OC use was more strongly associated with all course mortality (test for trend P=0.02), though overall exposure was not associated with Mortality.

#### Age at first Oral contraceptive use

In line with the univariate analysis (Table 5.2) performed and adjusted for age, there was a protective factor for OC for participants that started OC use between 20- 24 years. This was also statistically significant. After adjusting for multiple variables, statistical significance was no longer observed, and there was no visible protective factor for starting OC use between ages 20-24. However, these results are not statistically significant. Considering the other categories of age at first use, there was no observed protective or unprotective factor from Mortality. This applies to both the age-adjusted model and the multivariate adjusted model.

#### Exposure as ever users of oral contraceptives

In the age-adjusted model (Table 5.2), it was observed that there was no relationship between ever users of oral contraception and the Risk of Mortality. This implies that ever users are at the same risk of Mortality when compared to never users. In addition, the results were statistically significant. There was also no relationship observed in the multivariate-adjusted model, and the results were not statistically significant. These results indicate that if a participant has used oral contraceptives for a short period or an extended period, there is no relationship between oral contraceptive use and risk of Mortality.

#### 6.2 Comparisons to other studies

These results for all-cause mortality confirm similar earlier findings by the Royal College of General Practitioners (RCGP) and the Oxford – Family Planning Association. Earlier studies from the Royal College of General practitioners' Oral contraception study suggested a slight increase in all-cause mortality with oral contraceptive use (Royal College of General Practitioners Oral Contraception Study. Lancet 1981). However, further research reported no association or an inverse association (Vessey et al., 1989, Hannaford et al., 2010). The most recent Royal College of General practitioners' Oral contraception study reports examined a subcohort with more detailed information and observed no association (Brind J 2010). These findings are also mainly like the Oxford-Family Planning Association Contraceptive Study, which reported a null finding, whereas a subsequent analysis identified a marginal inverse association (Vessey et al., 2003).

In addition, based on the results of our study data for the duration of OC use and age at first use of OC, we observed no increase in all-cause mortality with longer durations of use and

increased age at first use, which is consistent with the trend in the Royal College of General Practitioners' and Oxford-Family Planning Association studies (Vessey et al., 2010, Hannaford et al., 2010).

Several other studies also reported no association between oral Contraceptive use and mortality. Nur et al., 2019 who concluded all-cause mortality showed no association with mortality for OC ever-users among Swedish women, Graff-Iversen et al. (2006), the Nurses' health study by Charlton et al., 2014, Colditz 1994 all concluded that there was no association between oral contraceptive use and risk of mortality.

When performing the multivariate analysis, the HRs for the different duration of OC use was similar in both the age-adjusted and multivariate-adjusted groups. This is suggestive of the fact that the covariates included in this analysis have minimal effect on the association between Oral contraceptive use and mortality.

#### 6.2.1 Descriptive statistics

From the descriptive table 5.1, the largest group of OC users was those reporting duration <1-4 years. The duration of OC use decreased as the number of years increased with the lowest number of women using  $\geq$ 10 years. Proportion of participant that used OC for the first time between 20- 24 years was highest with 40.7% followed by age <20 which was 24.3%, 25-29 years was 17.4 %, and  $\geq$ 30 was 8.5%

There was a significant difference in age between groups of never users and ever user, with never user on average 4.1 years older compared to ever users. It follows that oral contraceptive use is more commonly used among younger people.

There was a similar pattern for the distribution of BMI in the selection, with never-users having a BMI on average slightly higher than those women reporting OC use. This put group of never users at an average BMI of 25.1, which was slightly above the threshold for defining overweight (Weir and Jan 2021).

For daily alcohol consumption, women reporting OC use consumed more alcohol compared to never users. We researched studies and could not find an explanation for this relationship between OC users and alcohol consumption however, it could be due to more numbers of OC users compared to never users.

Mean education level was slightly higher among OC users compared to never users. Granted, the difference was only 1.1 years between the two, it was statistically significant, and this could be because oral contraceptive use was critical in helping women getting an education as earlier discussed and reported by Daniels et al., 2018.

Proportion of former and current smokers was higher among ever users compared to never user. Lower socioeconomic groups have been termed to have higher prevalence of smoking (Kaczynsky et al., 2008). These results seem conflicting because Oral contraceptive use has been linked to people with an education. Smoking as socioeconomic determinant for poor health has been reported to be mainly among those with lesser education. In this analysis, ever users of OC had higher levels of education hence should have lesser proportion of smokers. However, this is not the case.

#### 6.3 Strengths and limitations

There were a number of possible strengths and limitations associated with our study which were mostly related to the NOWAC study from which data material was obtained, and the type of methodology applied when analyzing. Self-reported data is time-efficient and incurs a lower cost than other forms of measurement and the Nowac study is based on this (Jekel et al., 2014). Because the results of our study depended on what information respondents chose to disclose, so too did the internal validity. External validity depended on whether the selection was representative for that of the source population, namely Norwegian middle-aged women.

#### 6.3.1 Strengths

This study is focused on identifying the strength of association between oral contraceptive use and the risk of Mortality using the Cox proportional hazards model and 95% confidence interval. The key strength of this study is that it draws data from a nationally representative cohort study with complete follow-up; therefore, women participating in the NOWAC study gave an explicit estimation of the association between oral contraceptives and Mortality among Norwegian women. In addition, robust numbers of respondents significantly lowered the chance of random errors affecting the effect estimates from the analysis. The primary exposure, i.e., Oral contraceptive use, duration of Oral contraceptive use, and age at first use of oral contraceptive estimate the risk of Mortality associated with several years of OC use. The outcome, i.e., Mortality, was confirmed from the Norwegian death registry, which is always well updated using participants' Norwegian personal numbers.

The strength of this study is based on the following additional factors: Given the fact that the sample size was large (N = 126 786), more years of follow-up, the possible confounders (Smoking, Physical activity) were adjusted for, the results from our study can be used to generalize to the female population of Norway in corresponding age groups and can therefore be used as the basis of future hypotheses and development of evidence bases. Furthermore, to aid recall of the type of oral contraceptive used, a photo-booklet of all OCs or hormonal replacement therapy brands was mailed to participants together with a questionnaire. This strengthens this study by preventing the systematic error of recall bias. In addition, Norway had, back in time, restrictive market policies for OCs with a relatively small number of different brands available, thus improving the ability to more rigorously define the exposure in terms of chemical compounds related to different brands. Another strength of this study is that a follow-up questionnaire collected information as recently as 2017, thus providing us with more accurate results for lifestyle factors (physical activity, smoking status, and alcohol consumption) such that people with a change in lifestyle since 2004 could be accounted for and appropriately adjusted.

Another strength of our study was that data from participants had been internally and externally validated. The sample was drawn randomly from the source population. Self-reported data involves an amount of uncertainty regarding the reliability of the information given by respondents (especially on smoking, alcohol consumption, and physical activity). This can be attributed to a self-selection bias in studies based on voluntary participation, giving the "healthy volunteer effect"; however, this has been validated (Lund et al., 2003). According to previously performed studies, the NOWAC study population did not differ significantly from the corresponding age groups of the source population from which it was drawn, except for a slightly higher level of mean education length (Lund et al., 2003).

Mean follow-up time between baseline measurements and the three rounds of follow-up was sufficiently long to allow for the development of outcomes in participants and, therefore, for the detection of risk. The fact that exposure was measured at baseline also gave a particular temporal indication between exposure and outcomes and could form a causal hypothesis on the relationship between exposure and outcome variables.

#### 6.3.2 Limitations

We identified some possible limitations associated with our study.

As mentioned earlier, there were missing data for some covariates included in our study. Several kinds of bias may be associated with no response for lifestyle data. Missing data on the selected variable in the analysis are reported in figure 4.2. The highest number of missing variables was observed in Physical activity and Alcohol consumption. This was understandable given that some series of the NOWAC study did not include alcohol as a reporting item. The possibilities of bias when reporting lifestyle habits may have skewered the distribution of confounding factors and underestimated their association between oral contraceptive use and the outcome of interest. Reports have found that alcohol is often underreported in studies with self-administered responses. The "social desirability bias" has been shown to cause respondents to not reply correctly regarding alcohol consumption. Respondents tend to underreport and/or underestimate their consumption levels, frequency of drinking, and daily reported consumption (Davis and Vilhena 2010). This means it should be expected that actual alcohol consumption is higher than what is apparent from self-reporting.

We expect that there might be some residual confounding that has not been adjusted for in our analysis, possibly due to the distance in time between baseline and follow-ups or due to other confounding variables having not been included in the analysis.

# 6.4 Implications for Public Health

Results from this study will contribute to the existing knowledge in the area of reproductive health, stating that there is no risk in mortality for ever-users of oral contraceptives compared to never-users. This could thus allay the fears of women considering oral contraceptive use, and it could also reassure women who took first-generation and second-generation oral contraceptives that this is unlikely to impact their mortality rates. It is both in the general

population's interest and the government to detect causes and risk factors for mortality. Hence, in line with other studies giving the same results, this study would provide more substantial evidence of safe oral contraceptive use.

Future studies should verify the risk of mortality when considering other variables and possible confounders like cancer, cardiovascular diseases, Cerebrovascular diseases, suicide, violence, or accidents. In addition, validation studies can establish the validity of self-reported outcomes by comparing self-reported information with patient journals or possibly by linking oral contraceptive use with the Norwegian prescription database.

# 6.5 Conclusion

There was no association between oral contraceptive use and mortality in a nationally representative cohort of Norwegian women aged 31-70. In addition, age at first use of oral contraceptive or duration of oral contraceptive use is not associated with the risk of mortality as observed in the Cox regression analysis. This thus would subdue the fear among Norwegian women about the risk of mortality from oral contraceptive use.

Considering the mortality analysis, the advantages of using oral contraceptives for both contraceptive (pregnancy prevention) and non-contraceptive reasons should also be considered. Oral contraceptives help improve ailments like dysmenorrhea, pre-menstrual dysphoric disorder, acne, and symptoms related to fibroid. Oral contraceptives also substantially reduce maternal mortality and also provide protective effects against ovarian cysts and tumors. With the introduction of new contraceptive technologies, it is crucial to understand the effect of exogenous sex steroids in contraceptives to help women make better decisions on their reproductive health.

#### References

- 1. Ahmed S, Li Q, Liu L, Tsui AO. Maternal deaths averted by contraceptive use: an analysis of 172 countries. Lancet 2012;380(9837):111–25.
- 2. Allen, A. M., Weinberger, A. H., Wetherill, R. R., Howe, C. L., & McKee, S. A. (2019). Oral Contraceptives and Cigarette Smoking: A Review of the Literature and Future Directions. *Nicotine & tobacco research : official journal of the Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco*, 21(5), 592–601. https://doi.org/10.1093/ntr/ntx258
- 3. Amani F, Bashiri J, Nahan Moghadam N, Tabarraie Y(2010). Application of logistic regression model in surveying effective causes of unwanted pregnancy (Persian). *Qom University of Medical Sciences Journal* 4(1): 32–6.
- 4. Atramont A, Lindecker-Cournil V, Rudant J, et al. Association of Age With Short-term and Long-term Mortality Among Patients Discharged From Intensive Care Units in France. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2019;2(5):e193215. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.3215
- 5. Barot S. Back to Basics: The Rationale for Increased Funds for International Family Planning. Policy Review. Washington, DC; Guttmacher Institute, 2008
- 6. Barroso C. The Benefits of Investing in Family Planning: New Evidence and Regional Experiences," presentation to panel discussion sponsored by the Guttmacher Institute, IPPF, New York.2010.
- Bailey, Martha J. 2006. "More Power to the Pill: The Impact of Contraceptive Freedom on Women's Life Cycle Labor Supply." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 121 (1): 289–320.
- 8. Bailey, Martha. 2013. "Fifty Years of Family Planning: New Evidence on the Long-Run Effects of Increasing Access to Contraception." *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity* 2013 (2013): 341–409. doi:10.1353/eca.2013.0001.
- 9. Bailey, Martha J., Melanie Guldi, and Brad J. Hershbein. 2013. "Further Evidence on the Internal Validity of the Early Legal Access Research Design." *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management : [The Journal of the Association for Public Policy Analysis and Management]* 32 (4): 899–904.
- Bailey, Martha J., Olga Malkova, and Zoë M. McLaren. 2018. "Does Access to Family Planning Increase Children's Opportunities? Evidence from the War on Poverty and the Early Years of Title X." *Journal of Human Resources*, July, 1216-8401R1
- 11. Bailey, Martha J., Olga Malkova, and Johannes Norling. 2014. "Do Family Planning Programs Decrease Poverty? Evidence from Public Census Data." *CESifo Economic Studies* 60 (2): 312–337. doi:10.1093/cesifo/ifu011.
- 12. Benagiano G, Bastianelli C, Farris M. (2006). Contraception today. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1092:1-32.
- 13. Beral V: Cardiovascular-disease mortality trends and oral contraceptive use in young women. Lancet 2.1047, 1976.
- 14. Beral V, Kay C R : Royal College of General Practitioners Oral Contraceptive Study: mortality among oral contraceptive users. Lancet 2:727, 1977
- Beral V, Hermon C, Kay C, Hannaford P, Darby S, Reeves G. (1999). Mortality associated with oral contraceptive use: 25 years follow up of cohort of 46 000 women from Royal College of General Practitioners' oral contraceptive study. Br Med, 318:96–100.
- 16. Beral V: Cardiovascular-disease mortality trends and oral contraceptive use in young women. Lancet 2.1047, 1976.
- 17. Belsey M et al: Cardiovascular diseases and oral contraceptives: reappraisal of vital statistics data. Int Fam Plann Perspect 5(1): March 1979.
- 18. Bickerstaff ER, Holmes J M : Cerebral arterial insufficiency and oral contraceptives. Br Med J /: 726, 1967.
- Biswas M, Rahaman S, Biswas T, K, Haque Z, Ibrahim B: Association of Sex, Age, and Comorbidities with Mortality in COVID-19 Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Intervirology 2021;64:36-47. doi: 10.1159/000512592
- 20. Blakely T, Tobias M, Atkinson J. Inequalities in mortality during and after restructuring of the New Zealand economy: repeated cohort studies. BMJ2008;336:371-5.
- 21. Bongaarts J. The impact of family planning program on unmet need and demand for contraception. Studies in Family Planning, 2014; 45(2), 247–262. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1728-4465.2014.00387.x PMID: 24931078
- 22. Britt K, Short R. The plight of nuns: Hazards of nulliparity. Lancet 2012;379:2322-3.
- 23. Brind J. Mortality and the pill. Wrong conclusions drawn, again. BMJ2010;340:c2523.
- 24. Burkman Jr. RT (1995). Oral Contraceptives: An Update, Hospital Practice, 30:4, 85-96, DOI: 10.1080/21548331.1995.11443185
- Busund M, Bugge NS, Braaten T, Waaseth M, Rylander C, Lund E. Progestin-only and combined oral contraceptives and receptor-defined premenopausal breast cancer risk: The Norwegian Women and Cancer Study. Int J Cancer. 2018 Jun 1;142(11):2293-2302. doi: 10.1002/ijc.31266. Epub 2018 Feb 7. PMID: 29349773; PMCID: PMC5893363.

- 26. Charlton BM, Rich-Edwards JW, Colditz GA, Rosner BA (2014). Oral contraceptive use and mortality after 36 years of follow-up in the Nurses' Health Study: prospective cohort study. BMJ, 349. doi: 10.1136/bmj.g6356
- 27. Cleland J, Bernstein S, Ezeh A, Faundes A, Glasier A. Innis J. Family planning: The unfinished agenda. Lancet 2006; 368, 1810–1827 https://doi.org/10.1016/S01406736(06)69480-4 PMID: 17113431
- 28. Cogliano V, Grosse Y, Baan R, Straif K, Secretan B, El Ghissassi F. Carcinogenicity of combined oestrogenprogestagen contraceptives and menopausal treatment. Lancet Oncol 2005; 6:552-3
- 29. Colditz GA (1994). Oral Contraceptive Use and Mortality during 12 Years of Follow-Up: The Nurses' Health Study. American College of Physicians.
  - https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-120-10-199405150-00002
- Daniels K, Abma JC. Current Contraceptive Status Among Women Aged 15-49: United States, 2017-2019. NCHS Data Brief. 2020 Oct;(388):1-8. PMID: 33151146.
- 31. Darroch JE, Singh S, Frost JJ. 2001. Differences in teenage pregnancy rates among five developed countries: the roles of sexual activity and contraceptive use. Family Planning Perspectives 33: 244 250, 281
- 32. Davis CG, Thake J, Vilhena N. Social desirability biases in self-reported alcohol consumption and harms. Addictive behaviors. 2010;35(4):302-11. Epub 2009/11/26.
- 33. Dehingia, N., Dixit, A., Atmavilas, Y. *et al.* Unintended pregnancy and maternal health complications: cross-sectional analysis of data from rural Uttar Pradesh, India. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* **20**, 188 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-020-2848-8
- 34. Dunn NR, Thorogood M, Faragher B, et al. (1999). Oral contraceptives and myocardial infarction: Results of the MICA case-control study. Br Med J, 318:1579–84.
- 35. Edlund, Lena and Cecilia Machado. 2015. "How the Other Half Lived: Marriage and Emancipation in the Age of the Pill." *European Economic Review* 80 (November): 295–309. doi:10.1016/j.euroecorev.2015.09.009.
- Endalifer ML, Diress G, Addisu A, Linger B. The association between combined oral contraceptive use and overweight/obesity: a secondary data analysis of the 2016 Ethiopia Demographic and Health Survey. BMJ Open. 2020 Dec 24;10(12):e039229. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-039229. PMID: 33361073; PMCID: PMC7768964.
- 37. Fantahun M, Berhane Y, Wall S, Byass P, Hogberg U. Women's involvement in household decisionmaking and strengthening social capital-crucial factors for child survival in Ethiopia. Acta Paediatrica, 2006; 96(4). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1651-2227.2007.0014.7x
- Fawcett J, Blakely T, Kunst A. Are mortality differences and trends by education any better or worse in New Zealand? A comparison study with Norway, Denmark and Finland, 1980-1990s. Eur J Epidemiol2005;20:683-91.
- Ferrari P, Licaj I, Muller DC, *et al* Lifetime alcohol use and overall and cause-specific mortality in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and nutrition (EPIC) study *BMJ Open* 2014;4:e005245. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005245
- Finer LB, Zolna MR. Unintended pregnancy in the United States: incidence and disparities, 2006. Contraception. 2011 Nov;84(5):478-85. doi: 10.1016/j.contraception.2011.07.013. Epub 2011 Aug 24. PMID: 22018121; PMCID: PMC3338192.
- 41. Finter LB , Henshow SK . 2006. Disparities in rates of unintended pregnancy in the United States, 1994 and 2001 . Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health 38: 90 96
- 42. Further analyses of mortality in oral contraceptive users. Royal College of General Practitioners' Oral Contraception Study. Lancet1981;1:541-6.
- Furu, K. ., Aares, E. B. ., Hjellvik, V. ., & Karlstad, Øystein. (2021). Hormonal contraceptive use in Norway, 2006-2020, by contraceptive type, age and county: A nationwide register-based study. *Norsk Epidemiologi*, 29(1-2). <u>https://doi.org/10.5324/nje.v29i1-2.4046</u>
- 44. Gadalla S, McCarthy J, Campbell O. How the number of living sons influences contraceptive use in Menoufia Governorate, Egypt. Stud Fam Plann. 1985 May-Jun;16(3):164-9. PMID: 4012820.
- 45. Gallagher LG, Davis LB, Ray RM, Psaty BM, Gao DL, Checkoway H, et al. Reproductive history and mortality from cardiovascular disease among women textile workers in Shanghai, China. Int J Epidemiol. (2011) 40:1510–8.doi: 10.1093/ije/dyr134
- 46. Gierisch JM, Coeytaux RR, Urrutia RP, Havrilesky LJ, Moorman PG, Lowery WJ, et al. Oral contraceptive use and risk of breast, cervical, colorectal, and endometrial cancers: a systematic review. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2013;22(11): 1931–43.
- 47. Gillum LA, Mamidipudi SK, Johnston SC. Ischemic stroke risk with oral contraceptives: A meta-analysis. JAMA 2000; 284:72–8.
- 48. Gipson JD, Koenig MA, Hindin MJ. The effects of unintended pregnancy on infant, child, and parental health: a review of the literature. Stud Fam Plann. 2008;39(1):18–38.

- 49. Graff-Iversen S, Hammar N, Thelle DS, Tonstad S. Use of oral contraceptives and mortality during 14 years' follow-up of Norwegian women. Scand J Public Health 2006; 34(1):11–6.
- Gregory, S. T., Hall, K., Quast, T., Gatto, A., Bleck, J., Storch, E. A., & DeBate, R. (2018). Hormonal contraception, depression, and academic performance among females attending college in the United States. Psychiatry Research, 270, 111–116. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.09.029
- Halpern-Manners, A., Helgertz, J., Warren, J.R. *et al.* The Effects of Education on Mortality: Evidence From Linked U.S. Census and Administrative Mortality Data.*Demography* 57, 1513–1541 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-020-00892-6
- Hannaford PC, Iversen L, Macfarlane TV, Elliott AM, Angus V, Lee AJ. Mortality among contraceptive pill users: Cohort evidence from Royal College of General Practitioners' Oral Contraception Study. BMJ 2010;340:c927
- Havrilesky LJ, Gierisch JM, Moorman PG, et al. Oral Contraceptive Use for the Primary Prevention of Ovarian Cancer. Evidence Report/Technology Assessment No. 212. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2013
- Heather J. Baer, Robert J. Glynn, Frank B. Hu, Susan E. Hankinson, Walter C. Willett, Graham A. Colditz, Meir Stampfer, Bernard Rosner, Risk Factors for Mortality in the Nurses' Health Study: A Competing Risks Analysis, *American Journal of Epidemiology*, Volume 173, Issue 3, 1 February 2011, Pages 319-329, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwq368</u>
- 57. Helsedirektoratet. Forebygging, utredning og behandling av overvekt og fedme hos voksne -Nasjonale retningslinjer for primærhelsetjenesten. Oslo; Norway: Helsedirektoratet; avd. Forebygging ihelsetjenesten, 2011.
- 58. Helsedirektoratet. Statusrapport juni 2012. Handlingsplan. Forebygging av uønskede svangerskap og abort 2010–2015 – strategier for bedre seksuell helse. 2012. <u>http://www.helsedirektoratet.no/publikasjoner/statusrapport-juni-2012-/Publikasjoner/statusrapport-juni-2012.pdf</u>
- 59. Henry N, Schlueter M, Lowin J, et al. Cost of unintended pregnancy in Norway: a role for long-acting reversible contraception. *J Fam Plann Reprod Health Care*. 2015;41(2):109-115. doi:10.1136/jfprhc-2014-100878
- 60. Hock, Heinrich. 2007. *The Pill and the College Attainment of American Women and Men*. Working Paper, wp2007\_10\_01. Department of Economics, Florida State University. <a href="https://ideas.repec.org/p/fsu/wpaper/wp2007\_10\_01.html">https://ideas.repec.org/p/fsu/wpaper/wp2007\_10\_01.html</a>> (accessed November 13, 2021).
- Hossain, M., Khan, M., Ababneh, F. *et al.* Identifying factors influencing contraceptive use in Bangladesh: evidence from BDHS 2014 data. *BMC Public Health* 18, 192 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-5098-1
- 62. Hummer RA, Hernandez EM. The Effect of Educational Attainment on Adult Mortality in the United States. *Popul Bull*. 2013;68(1):1-16.
- 63. Illis L, Kocen RS, McDonald WI et al: Oral contraceptives and cerebral arterial occlusion. Br Med J 2.1164, 1965.
- 64. Inman W H W, Vessey M P: Investigation of deaths from pulmonary, coronary, and cerebral thrombosis and embolism in women of childbearing age. Br Med J 2.193, 1968.
- 65. Jekel JF, Katz DL, Elmore JG, Wild D. Epidemiology, Biostatistics and Preventive Medicine. 4th ed. Philadelphia; USA: Elsevier Health Sciences; 2014.
- 66. Keyes, K. M., Cheslack-Postava, K., Westhoff, C., Heim, C. M., Haloossim, M., Walsh, K., & Koenen, K. (2013). Association of hormonal contraceptive use with reduced levels of depressive symptoms: A national study of sexually active women in the United States. American Journal of Epidemiology, 178(9), 1378–1388. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwt188.
- Kruszon-Moran D, Burkman RT, Kimball AW, Bachorik PS, Gold EB. The interaction of alcohol consumption and oral contraceptive use on lipids and lipoproteins. Contraception. 1988 Jan;37(1):39-51. doi: 10.1016/0010-7824(88)90147-3. PMID: 3365983.
- 68. Kulkarni, J. (2007). Depression as a side effect of the contraceptive pill. Expert Opinion on Drug Safety, 6(4), 371–374. doi: 10.1517/14740338.6.4.371.
- 69. Kumle M, Alsaker E, Lund E. (2003) Use of oral contraceptives and risk of cancer, a cohort study. Tidsskr Nor Lægeforen, 12:1653–6.
- Kumle M, Weiderpass E, Braaten T, Persson I, Adami HO, Lund E. (2002). Use of oral contraceptives and breast cancer risk: the Norwegian-Swedish Women's lifestyle and health cohort study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.11(11):1375–81
- Kopp Kallner H, Thunell L, Brynhildsen J, Lindeberg M, Gemzell Danielsson K. (2015). Use of contraception and attitudes towards contraceptive use in Swedish women--a Nationwide survey. PLoS One. 10(5):e0125990.

- 72. Leitzmann MF, Park Y, Blair A, et al. Physical Activity Recommendations and Decreased Risk of Mortality. *Arch Intern Med.* 2007;167(22):2453–2460. doi:10.1001/archinte.167.22.2453
- 73. Lidegaard O. Smoking and use of oral contraceptives: impact on thrombotic diseases. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1999 Jun;180(6 Pt 2):S357-63. doi: 10.1016/s0002-9378(99)70696-4. PMID: 10368521.
- 74. Luan NN, Wu L, Gong TT, Wang YL, Lin B, Wu QJ. Nonlinear reduction in risk for co-lorectal cancer by oral contraceptive use: a meta-analysis of epidemiological studies. Cancer Causes Control 2015;26(1):65–78
- 75. Lule E, Singh S, Chowdhury SA. Fertility Regulation Behaviors and Their Costs: Contraception and unintended pregnancies in Africa and Eastern Europe & Central Asia. Health, Nutrition and Population (HNP) Discussion Paper. Washington, DC: World Bank Human Development Program; 2007
- 76. Lu Y, Ma H, Malone KE, Norman SA, Sullivan-Halley J, Strom BL, et al. Oral contraceptive use and survival in women with invasive breast cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2011;20(7):1391–7.
- 77. Lund E. The Norwegian Women and Cancer study research group; [cited 2021 21<sup>st</sup> October]; NOWAC homepage]. Available from: http://site.uit.no/nowac/.
- Lund E, Dumeaux V, Braaten T, Hjartaker A, Engeset D, Skeie G, et al. Cohort profile: The Norwegian women and cancer study--NOWAC--Kvinner og kreft. International journal of epidemiology. 2008;37(1):36-41. Epub 2007/07/24.
- 79. Lund E, Gram IT. Response rate according to title and length of questionnaire. Scandinavian journal of social medicine. 1998;26(2):154-60. Epub 1998/07/11.
- 80. Lund E, Kumle M, Braaten T, Hjartaker A, Bakken K, Eggen E, et al. External validity in a population-based national prospective study--the Norwegian Women and Cancer Study (NOWAC). Cancer causes & control : CCC. 2003;14(10):1001-8. Epub 2004/01/31.
- 81. Lunde AS, Lundeborg S, Lettenstrom GS, Thygesen L, Huebner J. The person-number systems of Sweden, Norway, Denmark and Israel, *Vital Health Stat*, 1980, vol. 2(pg. 1-59)
- 82. Mackenbach JP, Bos V, Andersen O, Cardano M, Costa G, Harding S, et al. Widening socioeconomic inequalities in mortality in six Western European countries. Int J Epidemiol 2003;32:830-7.
- 83. Maguire K, Westhoff C. The state of hormonal contraception today: established and emerging non contraceptive health benefits. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2011;205(4 Suppl): S4-8
- 84. Mann JI, Inman W H W : Oral contraceptives and death from myocardial infarction. Br Med J 2:245, 1975.
- 85. Mann JI, Vessey M P, Thorogood N et al: Myocardial infarction in young women with special reference to oral contraceptive practice. Br Med J 2:241, 1975.
- Marrocco, J., & McEwen, B. S. (2016). Sex in the brain: Hormones and sex differences. Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience, 18(4), 373–383.
- Mayeda, E. R., Torgal, A. H., & Westhoff, C. L. (2014). Weight and body composition changes during oral contraceptive use in obese and normal weight women. *Journal of women's health* (2002), 23(1), 38–43. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2012.4241
- 88. McEwen, B. S., & Milner, T. A. (2017). Understanding the broad influence of sex hormones and sex differences in the brain. Journal of Neuroscience Research, 95(1–2), 24–39. doi: 10.1002/jnr.23809
- Merians DR, Haskell WL, Vranizan KM, Phelps J, Woods PD, Superko R. Relationship of exercise, oral contraceptive use, and body fat to concentrations of plasma lipids and lipoprotein cholesterol in young women. Am J Med. 1985 Jun;78(6 Pt 1):913-9. doi: 10.1016/0002-9343(85)90212-8. PMID: 3874544.
- Mohllajee, A P. MPH; Curtis, K M. PhD; Morrow, B MA; Marchbanks, P A. PhD Pregnancy Intention and Its Relationship to Birth and Maternal Outcomes, Obstetrics & Gynecology: March 2007 - Volume 109 - Issue 3 - p 678-686 doi: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000255666.78427.c5
- 91. Mok, A., Khaw, K. T., Luben, R., Wareham, N., & Brage, S. (2019). Physical activity trajectories and mortality: population based cohort study. *BMJ* (*Clinical research ed.*), 365, 12323. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.12323
- 92. Mosher WD , Martinez GM , Chandra A , Abma J , Wilsons S . 2004 . Use of contraception and use of family planning services in the United States: 1982 2002 . Advance Data 350 : 1 36 .
- 93. Nightingale AL, Farmer RDT. Ischemic stroke in young women: a nested case–control study using the UK general practice research database. Stroke. (2004) 35:1574–8. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000129789.58837.e4
- 94. Nur U, El Reda D, Hashim D, & Weiderpass E. (2019). A prospective investigation of oral contraceptive use and breast cancer mortality: findings from the Swedish women's lifestyle and health cohort. BMC Cancer, 19:807 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-019-5985-6
- 95. Oinonen, K. A., & Mazmanian, D. (2002). To what extent do oral contraceptives influence mood and affect? Journal of Affective Disorders, 70(3), 229–240. doi: 10.1016/s0165-0327(01)00356-1
- 96. Oliver MF: Oral contraceptives and myocardial infarction. Br Med J 2:210, 1970.
- 97. Participants, questionnaires and follow-up. Webpage NOWAC: NOWAC; [cited 2021 21<sup>st</sup> October]; Available from: http://site.uit.no/nowac/participants-questionnaires-and-follow-up/.

- 98. Petitti DB, Sidney S, Bernstein A, Wolf S, Quesenberry C, Ziel HK. Stroke in users of low-dose oral contraceptives. N Engl J Med. (1996) 335:8–15. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199607043350102
- 99. Peragallo Urrutia R, Coeytaux RR, McBroom AJ, Gierisch JM, Havrilesky LJ, Moorman PG, et al. Risk of acute thromboembolic events with oral contraceptive use: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Obstet Gynecol 2013;122(2 Pt 1):380–9
- 100.Phillips KA, Milne RL, West DW, Goodwin PJ, Giles GG, Chang ET, et al. Prediagnosis reproductive factors and all-cause mortality for women with breast cancer in the breast cancer family registry. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2009;18(6):1792–7.
- 101. Piccinino LP. Ambivalent attitudes and unintended pregnancy. London (UK): Jessica Kingsley; 1999.
- 102. Radford DJ, Oliver MF: Oral contraceptives and myocardial infarction. Br Med J 3:428, 1973
- 103.Ranstam J, Olsson H. (1993). Oral contraceptive use among young women in southern Sweden. J Epidemiol Community Health. 47(1):32–5.
- 104. Roach RE.J., Helmerhorst FM, Lijfering WM., Stijnen T, Algra A, Dekkers OM. Combined oral contraceptives: the risk of myocardial infarction and ischemic stroke. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2015, Issue 8. Art. No.: CD011054. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011054.pub2
- 105.Rosendaal FR, Van Hylckama Vlieg A, Tanis BC, Helmerhorst FM. Estrogens, progestogens and thrombosis. J Thromb Hemost 2003;1:1371–80.
- 106.Rosenberg L, Palmer JR, Rao RS, Shapiro SMB.(2001). Low-dose oral contraceptive use and the risk of myocardial infarction. Arch Intern Med, 161:1065–70.
- 107.Roswall N, Sandin S, Adami HO, Weiderpass E. (2017). Cohort profile: the Swedish Women's lifestyle and health cohort. Int J Epidemiol.46(2).
- 108.Rotermann M, Dunn S, Black A. Oral contraceptive use among women aged 15 to 49: Results from the Canadian Health Measures Survey. Health Rep. 2015 Oct;26(10):21-8. PMID: 26488824.
- 109.Royal College of General Practitioners' Oral Contraception Study. Mortality among oral contraceptive users. Lancet 1977; ii:727–31.

110. Royal College of General Practitioners. Oral contraceptives and health. London: Pitman Medical, 1974.

- 111.Sartwell PW, Masi AT, Arthes FG et al: Thromboembolism and oral contraceptives: an epidemiological casecontrol study. Am J Epidemiol 90:365, 1969
- 112.Schwartz SM, Siscovick DS, Longstreth WT Jr, Psaty BM, Beverly RK, Raghunathan TE, et al. Use of lowdose oral contraceptives and stroke in young women. Ann Intern Med. (1997) 127:596–603. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-127-8\_Part\_1-199710150-00003
- 113.Singh S . 1998 . Adolescent childbearing in developing countries: a global review . Studies in Family Planning 29 : 117 136 .
- 114.Skjeldestad FE. Choice of contraceptive modality by women in Norway. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 1994 Jan;73(1):48-52. doi: 10.3109/00016349409013393. PMID: 8304025.
- 115.Skovlund, C. W., Morch, L. S., Kessing, L. V., & Lidegaard, O. (2016). Association of hormonal contraception with depression. JAMA Psychiatry, 73(11), 1154–1162. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.2387.
- 116.Skovlund, C. W., Morch, L. S., Kessing, L. V., Lange, T., & Lidegaard, O. (2018). Association of hormonal contraception with suicide attempts and suicides. American Journal of Psychiatry, 175(4), 336–342. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2017.17060616.
- 117.Skovlund, C. W. (2018). Clarifying methods and results in studies of the association between hormonal contraception and mental health issues: Response to Berlin et al. American Journal of Psychiatry, 175(7), 684–684. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.18010057r
- 118.Sonfield A, Kost K, Gold RB, Finer LB. The public costs of births resulting from unintended pregnancies: national and state-level estimates. Perspect Sex Reprod Health. 2011 Jun;43(2):94-102. doi: 10.1363/4309411. Epub 2011 May 19. PMID: 21651708.
- 119.Speroff L , Fritz MA . 2005 . Clinical gynecologic endocrinology and infertility. 7th ed . Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.p 827 828.
- 120. Steinberg D. Thematic review series: the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. An interpretive history of the cholesterol controversy: part II: the early evidence linking hypercholesterolemia to coronary disease in humans. *J Lipid Res.* 2005;46:179–190.
- 121.Strand B H, GrÃ, holt E, SteingrÃmsdÃ<sup>3</sup>ttir \_\_\_\_\_\_A, Blakely T, Graff-Iversen S, Næss \_\_\_\_\_\_/span> et al. Educational inequalities in mortality over four decades in Norway: prospective study of middle aged men and women followed for cause specific mortality, 1960-2000 *BMJ* 2010; 340 :c654 doi:10.1136/bmj.c654
- 122. Stolley P et al: Thrombosis with low-estrogen oral contraceptives. Am J Epidemiol 102(3):\97, 1975

- 123. Tanfer K, Horn MC. Contraceptive use, pregnancy and fertility patterns among single American women in their 20s. Fam Plann Perspect. 1985 Jan-Feb;17(1):10-9. PMID: 3979524.
- 124. Tanis BC, van den Bosch MAAJ, Kemmeren JM, et al. (2001). Oral contraceptives and the risk of myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med, 345:1787–93.
- 125. Teo KK, Ounpuu S, Hawken S, Pandey MR, Valentin V, Hunt D, et al. Tobacco use and risk of myocardial infarction in 52 countries in the INTERHEART study: a case-control study. Lancet. 2006;368(9536):647-58. Epub 2006/08/22.
- 126. Tietze C: The pill mortality from cardiovascular disease: another look, Fam Plann Perspect 11(2): March/April, 1979
- 127. Timeline NOWAC study. Webpage NOWAC study: NOWAC; [cited 2021 21st October]; Available from: http://site.uit.no/nowac/methodological-description/timeline/
- 128. Toffol, E., Heikinheimo, O., Koponen, P., Luoto, R., & Partonen, T. (2011). Hormonal contraception and mental health: Results of a population-based study. Human Reproduction, 26(11), 3085–3093. doi: 10.1093/humrep/der269.
- 129. Toffol, E., Heikinheimo, O., Koponen, P., Luoto, R., & Partonen, T. (2012). Further evidence for lack of negative associations between hormonal contraception and mental health. Contraception, 86(5), 470–480. doi: 10.1016/j.contraception.2012.02.014.
- 130. Trivers KF, Gammon MD, Abrahamson PE, Lund MJ, Flagg EW, Moorman PG, et al. Oral contraceptives and survival in breast cancer patients aged 20 to 54 years. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2007;16(9):1822–7.
- 131.United Nations (2015). Trends in contraceptive Use worldwide 2015 (ST/ESA/ SER.A/349). New York: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs Population Division.
- 132. United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. Trends in Contraceptive Use

   Use
   Worldwide
   (2015)
   (ST/ESA/SER.A/349).
   2015.

   http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/family/trendsContraceptiveUse2015
   Report.pdf. Accessed December 11, 2016.
- 133.United Nations Population Division (2006). World Contraceptive Use 2005. New York: Department of Economics and Social Affairs; 2006.
- 134.US Department of Health and Human Services, *Physical Activity and Health: A Report of the Surgeon General.* Atlanta, GA Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion1996;
- 135.Utomo, B., Sucahya, P.K., Romadlona, N.A. *et al.* The impact of family planning on maternal mortality in Indonesia: what future contribution can be expected?. *Popul Health Metrics* 19, 2 (2021). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12963-020-00245-w</u>
- 136. Van der Westhuizen M, Hall D Are affluent, well-educated, career-orientated women knowledgeable users of the oral contraceptive pill? *BMJ Sexual & Reproductive Health* 2005;**31**:307-309.
- 137. Vessey M, Yeates D, Flynn S. Factors affecting mortality in a large cohort study with special reference to oral contraceptive use. Contraception 2010;82(3):221–9.
- 138. Vessey MP, Doll R: Investigation of relation between use of oral contraceptives and thromboembolic disease. A further report. Br Med J 2:651, 1969
- 139. Vessey MP, McPherson K, Johnson B. Mortality among women participating in the Oxford/Family Planning Association Contraceptive Study. Lancet 1977;ii: 731–3
- 140. Vessey M., Painter R, Yeates D. (2003). Mortality in relation to oral contraceptive use and cigarette smoking. THE LANCET, 362: 185-191
- 141.Vessey MP, Villard-Mackintosh L, McPherson K, Yeates D. Mortality among oral contraceptive users: 20 year follow up of women in a cohort study. BMJ 1989;299:1487–91
- 142. Vessey M, Yeates D, Flynn S. Factors affecting mortality in a large cohort study with special reference to oral contraceptive use. Contraception 2010;82:221–9
- 143. Vessey M, Doll R, Peto R, Johnson B, Wiggins P. A long-term follow-up study of women using different methods of contraception--an interim report. J Biosoc Sci. 1976 Oct;8(4):373-427. doi: 10.1017/s0021932000010890. PMID: 993236.
- 144. Wamala S, Blakely T, Atkinson J. Trends in absolute socioeconomic inequalities in mortality in Sweden and New Zealand. A 20-year gender perspective. BMC Public Health2006;6:164.
- 145. Wannamethee SG, Shaper AG, Perry IJ. Smoking as a modifiable risk factor for type 2 diabetes in middleaged men. Diabetes care. 2001;24(9):1590-5. Epub 2001/08/28.
- 146.Weir CB, Jan A. BMI Classification Percentile And Cut Off Points. [Updated 2021 Jun 29]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2021 Jan-. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK541070/

- 147.Worly, B. L., Gur, T. L., & Schaffir, J. (2018). The relationship between progestin hormonal contraception and depression: A systematic review. Contraception, 97(6), 478–489. doi: 10.1016/j.contraception.2018.01.010.
- 148.Xu Z, Li Y, Tang S, Huang X, Chen T. Current use of oral contraceptives and the risk of first-ever ischemic stroke: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Thromb Res. (2015) 136:52–60. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2015.04.021
- 149. Xu Z, Yue Y, Bai J, Shen C, Yang J, Huang X, et al. Association between oral contraceptives and risk of hemorrhagic stroke: a metaanalysis of observational studies. Arch Gynecol Obstet. (2018) 297:1181–91. doi: 10.1007/s00404-018-4723-7
- 150. Yang L, Kuper H, Sandin S, Margolis KL, Chen Z, Adami HO, et al. Reproductive history, oral contraceptive use, and the risk of ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke in a cohort study of middle-aged Swedish women. Stroke. (2009) 40:1050–8. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.108.531913
- 151.Zethraeus, N., Dreber, A., Ranehill, E., Blomberg, L., Labrie, F., von Schoultz, B., ... Hirschberg, A. L. (2017). A first-choice combined oral contraceptive influences general well-being in healthy women: A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Fertility and Sterility, 107(5), 1238–1245. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2017.02.120
- 152.Zhao M, Veeranki S P, Magnussen C G, Xi B. Recommended physical activity and all cause and cause specific mortality in US adults: prospective cohort study *BMJ* 2020; 370 :m2031 doi:10.1136/bmj.m2031
- 153.Zilkha KJ: Cerebrovascular accidents in women taking oral contraceptives. Am Heart J 70:280, 1965

KVINNER OG KREFT	KONFIDENSIELT
Hvis du samtykker i å være med, sett kryss for JA i ruten ved si Dersom du ikke ønsker å delta kan du unngå purring ved å sett for NEI og returnere skjemaet i vedlagte svarkonvolutt.	den av 24 KK/1997 e kryss 10.000 46-70 år 261000 – 270999
Hvis du vil være med, så ber vi deg fylle ut spørreskjemaet så som mulig, se orienteringen på brosjyren for nærmere opplyst	nøye ninger.
Med vennlig hilsen	Jeg samtykker i å delta i JA
Eiliv Lund Professor dr. med	spørreskjema-undersøkelsen NEI
Forhold i oppveksten	Graviditeter, fødsler og amming
I hvilken kommune har du bodd lengre enn ett år?       Fy         Kommune:       Alder       og         1. Fødested:       Fra       år til       år         2.       Fra       år til       år         3.       Fra       år til       år         4.       Fra       år til       år         5.       Fra       år til       år         6.       Fra       år til       år	Il ut for hvert barn du har født opplysninger om fødselsår antall måneder du ammet (fylles også ut for dødfødte eller barn som er døde senere i livet). Dersom du ikke har født rn, fortsetter du ved neste spørsmål.
7       Fra       år til       år         Kroppstype i 1. klasse. (Sett ett kryss)         veldig tynn       tynn       hormal       tykk       veldig tykk	4       5     (       6
Hvor mange års skolegang/yrkesutdannelse har du i alt, ta med folkeskole og ungdomsskole? år	
Menstruasjonsforhold	Bruk av hormonpreparater med østrogen i overgangsalderen
Hvor gammel var du da du fikk menstruasjon første Ha	r du noen gang brukt hormontabletter/plaster?
lvor mange år tok det før menstruasjonen ble regelmessig?	Hvis Ja; hvor lenge har du brukt hormontabletter/plaster i alt? år
Ett år eller mindre Mer enn ett år	is du har brukt hormonpreparater i <i>kun 1 år eller</i> <i>indre;</i> hvorfor har du brukt midlene så kort tid?
	Har nettopp startet behandlingen
	Redd for skadevirkninger
Har uregelmessig menstruasjon	Fikk plagsomme bivirkninger
Vet ikke (menstruasjon uteblitt pga. legemiddelbruk,	Annet
Nei br	ukte hormontabletter/plaster? år
Hvis Nei: Hv	orfor begynte du å bruke hormontabletter/plaster?
har den stoppet av seg selv?	Lindre plager i overgangsalderen (hetetokter, uopplagthet, underlivsplager mm)
	Forebygge benskjørhet
annet?	Forebygge hjerte/kar sykdom
Alder da menstruasjonen opphørte? år Br	uker du tabletter/plaster nå? 🛛 Ja 🗌 Nei

-1-

lar du	i noen a	angh	rukt horn	onkr	m/etil	kknill	e?	åbruk	e hormo	ner		91			Nei
	i noen g	ang b	rukt norm			Ja	Nei	Hvis ia	: Hvor n	nange	ka?				
Hv	is Ja: hv	or len	ae har du	brukt		ou i		iiiio ja	,	lange	Ng.				
kre	m/stikkp	ille i a	lt?				år	Info	rmasi	ons	kilder	STREETS.	and the		A CRISS
Hve	or gamm	el var	du første	gang	du									de la subset	
bru	ikte horm	nonkre	m/stikknil	le?	au		år	(Besvare	s uansett o	om du h	ar brukt ho	rmonpre	eparate	er eller ikl	ke)
Bru	uker du	krem/	stikkpille	nå?		Ja [	Nei	Hvor h hormo	ar du sk nbehane	affet	deg info	rmasjo	on/ku	viktig	p om meget
													viktig		viktig
BRU	KT ELLI	ER BF	UKER H	ORMO	NPRE	PARA	AR	Allr	nenprak	tiserer	ide lege				
MED	ØSTRO	GEN	FORM A	V TAE	BLETT	ER,		Gy	nekolog						
PLAS	STER, K	REM	ELLER S	TIKKP	ILLER	1		Apo	otek						
For h	ver period	de med	sammenh	engend	le bruk	av sar	mme	Ra	dio/TV					Ц	
da du	startet. h	ivor ler	nge du bruk	te det	samme	ammei	uu var	Uke	eblader/a	aviser					
horm	onprepara	atet og	navnet på	dette. I	Dersom	du ha	ar tatt								
oppho	old eller s	kiftet m	nerke, skal	du bes	vare sp	ørsmå	alene for	Hvilke	n betydr	ning h	ar råd fr	а			
en ny	periode.	Derson	m du ikke h	usker i	hielpo	pā doc til	å hueko	Tallille	og ven	ier na	:				
navne	et på horn	nonpre	paratene h	er vi de	a bruk	e den v	vedlagte								7
brosjy	yre som v	iser bil	der av horr	nonpre	parater	som h	nar vært	D.D	iller			1			Sec. Library
solgt	i Norge. \	/ennlig	st oppgi og	så nun	nmer på	åhorm	non-		iner		18-14				
tablet	tten/plaste	eret/kre	emen/stikkp	oillen so	om står	i brosj	yren.								
	Alder ved	Brukt sa	mme hormon-		н	lormonta	blett/	Har du	noen g	ang b	rukt p-p	iller, m	ninipi	ller ink	ludert?
Periode	start	tablett/	plaster/krem/ tikkpille		1	plaster/k	lle							🔄 Ja	💷 Nei
		Samm	enhengende	Nr		(se brosj	jyre)	Hvis J	a;	(					
		ai	manou	1.1.		1401411			nac hou	du h	rukt n-n	iller i a			21
Første								Hvor le	enge na	uub	iuni p-p		111 ?		ai
Første								Hvor le Hvor g	ammel v	var du	første g	gang	111 ?		aı
Første Andre								Hvor le Hvor g du bru	ammel v kte p-pil	var du ller?	første g	gang	111.7		âi
Første Andre Tredje								Hvor le Hvor g du bru Hvis d	ammel v kte p-pil u har fø	var du ller? dt bar	n, brukt	gang e	1117		år
Første Andre Tredje Fjerde								Hvor ig Hvor g du bru Hvis d du p-p	ammel v kte p-pil u har fø iller før	var du ller? dt bar første	n, brukt fødsel?	yang e	ut f	 ] Ja	år
Første Andre Tredje Fjerde Femte								Hvor ig Hvor g du bru Hvis d du p-p	ammel v kte p-pil u har før iller før	var du ller? dt bar første	n, brukt fødsel?	gang e	111 2	 ] Ja	år
Første Andre Tredje Fjerde Femte								Hvor g Hvor g du bru Hvis d du p-p Brukei	ammel v kte p-pil u har før iller før f	var du ller? dt bar første	n, brukt fødsel?	gang e	111 ?	 Ja Ja	âr
Første Andre Tredje Fjerde Femte		epara	tene gitt	deg				Hvor ig Hvor g du bru Hvis d du p-p Bruker Vi vil b	ammel v kte p-pil u har før iller før du p-pi	var du ller? dt bar første ller na n å be	n, brukt fødsel?	gang e ørsmål	lene c	Ja	nei □ Nei □ Nei □ Nei
Første Andre Tredje Fjerde Femte Har ho Divirkr	ormonpr	epara	tene gitt (	deg		Ja	Nei	Hvor is Hvor g du bru Hvis d du p-p Bruker Vi vil b mer nø	ammel v kte p-pil u har før iller før du p-pi e deg on ye. For h	var du ller? dt bar første ller na n å be nver p	n, brukt fødsel? å? svare sp eriode m	gang e ørsmål ed san	lene c nmen	 Ja Ja om p-pil henger	nei Nei Nei lle bruk
Første Andre Tredje Fjerde Femte Har ho pivirkr Hvis ja	ormonpr ninger? a; kryss	epara av for	tene gitt	deg	nger:	Ja	Nei	Hvor is Hvor g du bru Hvis d du p-p Brukei Vi vil b mer nø av sam	ammel v kte p-pil u har før iller før du p-pi e deg on ye. For h ime p-pil	var du ller? dt bar første ller na nå be nver p le me	n, brukt fødsel? å? svare sp eriode m ke håpe	gang e ørsmål ed san r vi du	lene o nmen kan s	Ja J	âr Nei D Nei Ile bruk vor o dat
Første Andre Tredje Fjerde Femte Har ho pivirkr Hvis ja Ure	prmonpr ninger? a; kryss	epara av for	tene gitt hvilke bi	deg	nger:	Ja		Hvor is Hvor g du bru Hvis d du p-p Brukei Vi vil b mer nø av sam gamme	kte p-pil u har fød iller før du p-pi e deg on ye. For h ime p-pil el du var	var du ller? dt bar første n å be nver p le mel da du merke	n, brukt fødsel? å? svare sp eriode m rke håpe startet, l	gang e ørsmål ed san r vi du nvor le net på r	lene o nmen kan s nge d	Ja Ja Ja om p-pil henger i oss hu u brukt ne	År Nei Nei le bruk vor e det
Første Andre Tredje Fjerde Femte Har ho pivirkr Hvis ja Ure Bro	prmonpr ninger? a; kryss egelmess	epara av for sige bl	tene gitt o hvilke bi	deg	nger:	] Ja	□ Nei	Hvor is Hvor g du bru Hvis d du p-p Bruker Vi vil b mer nø av sam gamme samme Dersor	te du p-pil du har før iller før du p-pil e deg on ye. For h me p-pil du var p-pille r n du har	var du ller? dt bar første nå be nver p le mel da du merke tatt op	n, brukt fødsel? å? svare sp eriode m ke håpe startet, l c og navr	gang ørsmål ed san r vi du hvor le het på j ler skif	lene o nmen kan s nge d p-pille tet mo	Ja Ja Ja om p-pil henger i oss hu lu brukt ene. erke, sk	âr Nei Nei Ile bruk nde bruk vor e det kal du
Første Andre Tredje Fjerde Femte Har ho Divirkr Hvis ja Ure Bry	prmonpr ninger? a; kryss egelmess ystspenn alme/ma	epara av for sige bl	tene gitt d hvilke bi ødninger	deg	nger:	] Ja ]	□ Nei	Hvor is Hvor is du bru Hvis d du p-p Bruker Vi vil b mer nø av sam gamme samme Dersor besvar	the providence of the second s	dt bar første ller nå hå be hver p le me da du merke tatt op hålene	n, brukt fødsel? svare sp eriode m ke håpe startet, i t og navr ophold el for en r	ørsmål ed san r vi du hvor le het på j ler skif y peric	lene o nmen kan s nge d p-pille tet mo ode. I	Ja Ja Ja om p-pil henger i oss hy lu brukt ene. erke, sk Dersom	År Nei D Nei le bruk de bruk vor e det cal du a du ikke
Første Andre Tredje Fjerde Femte Har ho pivirkr Hvis ja Ure Bry Kva	prmonpr ninger? a; kryss egelmes: ystspenn alme/ma	epara av for sige bl ing gesmo	tene gitt o hvilke bi lødninger erter	deg	nger:	Ja	Nei	Hvor is Hvor is du bru Hvis d du p-p Bruker Vi vil bo mer nø av sam gamme samme Derson besvar husker	the provided and the pr	dt bar første nå be nver p le me da du merke tatt op nålene på p-p	i første g n, brukt fødsel? svare sp eriode m ke håpe startet, l t og navr ophold el e for en r ille merk t nå pen	ørsmål ed san r vi du nvor le het på p ler skif y peric et, sett	lene c nmen kan s nge d p-pille tet m ode. I c usiki	Ja Ja Ja om p-pil henger i oss hu lu brukt ene. erke, sk Dersom ker. For ber vi c	ål Nei le bruk de bruk vor e det a du ikke å hjelpe
Første Andre Tredje Fjerde Femte Har ho Divirkr Hvis ja Ure Bry Kva Ho	ormonpr ninger? a; kryss egelmes: ystspenn alme/ma adepine	epara av for sige bl ing gesme	tene gitt o hvilke bi lødninger erter	deg	nger:	] Ja	Nei	Hvor is Hvor is du bru Hvis d du p-p Bruker Vi vil b mer nø av sam gamme samme Derson besvar husker du g til d	the provided and the pr	ller? dt bar første nå be nver p le mei da du merke tatt op nålene oå p-p navne agte b	n, brukt fødsel? svare sp eriode m ke håpe startet, l t og navr ophold el e for en r ille merk t på p-pi rosivren	gang ørsmål ed san r vi du hvor le het på j ler skif y peric et, sett le mer som vi	lene c nmen kan s nge d o-pille tet mo ode. I : usikk kene ser bi	Ja Ja Ja om p-pil henger i oss hy lu brukt ene. erke, sk Dersom ker. For ber vi c lder av	
Første Andre Tredje Fjerde Femte Har ho bivirkr Hvis ja Ure Bry Kva Ho Hu	prmonpr ninger? a; kryss egelmes: ystspenn alme/ma idepine idreaksjo	epara av for sige bl ing gesme	tene gitt hvilke bi lødninger erter	deg	nger:	] Ja ] ] ] ]	Nei	Hvor is Hvor is du bru Hvis d du p-p Brukei Vi vil b mer nø av sam gamme samme Dersor besvar husker deg til å bruke o merker	the providence of the providen	Iller na første ller na h å be hver p le mei da du nerke tatt op hålene bå p-p navne agte b r vært	n, brukt fødsel? svare sp eriode m ke håpe startet, l og navr ophold el for en r ille merk t på p-pi rosjyren solgt i N	gang ørsmål ed san r vi du hvor le ler skif y peric et, sett le mer som vi orge. \	lene c nmen kan s nge d o-pille tet mo ode. I t usikk kene ser bi	Ja Ja Ja om p-pil henger i oss hu brukt me. erke, sk Dersom ker. For ber vi c ilder av igst opp	ar ar ar ar ar ar ar ar ar ar
Første Andre Tredje Fjerde Femte Har hoo bivirkr Hvis ja Ure Bry Kva Hoo Hu Ve	prmonpr ninger? a; kryss egelmess ystspenn alme/ma adepine idreaksjo ktøkning	epara av for sige bl ing gesmo	tene gitt ( hvilke bi lødninger erter	deg	nger:	] Ja ] ] ] ]	Nei	Hvor is Hvor is du bru Hvis d du p-p Brukei Vi vil bi mer nø av sam gamme samme Derson besvar husker deg til s bruke o merker numme	the providence of the providen	Iller n første in å be hver p le merke tatt op nålene oå p-p navne agte b r vært -pillen	n, brukt fødsel? svare sp eriode m ke håpe startet, l ophold el for en r ille merk t på p-pi rosjyren solgt i N som stå	ang arsmål ed sam r vi du hvor le het på p ler skif y peric et, sett le mer som vi orge. \ r i bros	lene c nmen kan s nge d o-pille tet me ode. I t usikk kene ser bi /ennli	Ja Ja Ja om p-pil henger i oss hu lu brukt me. erke, sk Dersom ker. For ber vi c ker. For ber vi c lider av igst opp	ar ar ar ar ar ar ar ar ar ar
Første Andre Tredje Fjerde Femte Har hoo Divirkr Hovis ja Urre Bry Kva Ho Hou Huu Ve An	prmonpr ninger? a; kryss egelmess ystspenn alme/ma idepine idreaksjo ktøkning net	epara av for sige bl ing gesmo	tene gitt d hvilke bi lødninger erter	deg	nger:	] Ja ] ] ] ]	Nei	Hvor is Hvor is du bru Hvis d du p-p Brukei Vi vil bi mer nø av sam gamme samme Derson besvar husker deg til b bruke o merker numme	te peril te peril te peril te du peril te du peril te du peril te du peril te du var te perille r n du har te spørsn navnet på huske den vedla som ha peret på p	var du liler? dt bar første liler na nå be nver p le mei da du merke tatt op nålend bå p-p navne agte b r vært r pillen	n, brukt fødsel? svare sp eriode m ke håpe startet, l t og navr ophold el for en r ille merk t på p-pi rosjyren solgt i N som stå	ang arsmål ed sam r vi du nvor le het på p ler skif y peric et, sett le mer som vi orge. \ r i bros	lene c nmen kan s o-pille tet mo ode. I t usikk kene ser bi /ennli	Ja Ja Ja om p-pil henger i oss hv i os hv i	År Nei Nei Nei lle bruk ode bruk vor e det kal du a du ikke å hjelpe leg p-pille- ogi også
Første Andre Tredje Fjerde Femte Har ho Divirkr Hvis ja Uræ Bry Kvæ Ho Hu Ve An	prmonpr ninger? a; kryss egelmes: ystspenn alme/ma idepine idreaksjo ktøkning net	epara av for sige bl ing gesmo	tene gitt d hvilke bi ødninger erter	deg ivirkni	nger:	] Ja	□ Nei	Hvor is Hvor is du bru Hvis d du p-p Bruker Vi vil b mer nø av sam gamme samme Dersor besvar husker deg til bruke o merker numme	Alder ved	ller? dt bar første første nå be nver p le me da du nerke tatt op nålene da du nerke tatt op nålene da du nerke tatt op nålene så p-p navne agte b	n, brukt fødsel? å? svare sp eriode m ke håpe startet, l t og navr ophold el for en r ille merk t på p-pi rosjyren solgt i N som stå	ørsmål ed san r vi du nvor le het på p ler skif y peric et, sett le mer som vi orge. \ r i bros	lene c nmen kan s nge d o-pille tet mo ode. I t usikk kene ser bi /ennli /ennli	Ja Ja Ja m p-pil henger i oss hv lu brukt erke, sk Dersom ker. For ber vi c ilder av igst opp	ÅI Nei Nei le bruk de bruk vor e det a du ikke å hjelpe deg p-pille- ogi også
Første Andre Tredje Fjerde Femte Huris ja Uræ Bry Kva Ho Hu Ve An Førte o Forte o	ormonpr ninger? a; kryss egelmes: ystspenn alme/ma adepine idreaksjo ktøkning net de overr iret horm	epara av for sige bl ing gesmo ner	tene gitt hvilke bi ødninger erter erter	deg ivirkni	nger:	] Ja	Nei	Hvor is Hvor is du bru Hvis d du p-p Bruker Vi vil b mer nø av sam gamme samme Derson besvar husker deg til b bruke o merker numme	Alder ved	ller na første ller na n å be nver p le mei da du nerke tatt op nålena oå p-p navne b r vært -pillen Brukt s samm	n, brukt fødsel? å? svare sp eriode m ke håpe startet, l t og navr ophold el for en r ille merk t på p-pi rosjyren solgt i N som stå	ang arsmål ed san r vi du hvor le het på peric et, sett le mer som vi orge. V r i bros	lene conmen kan s nge d o-pille tet mo de. I usikk kene ser bi /ennli	Ja Ja Ja m p-pil henger i oss h u brukt ene. erke, sł Dersom ker. For ber vi c ilder av igst opp	åi Nei le bruk de bruk vor e det a du ikke å hjelpe deg p-pille- ogi også
Forste Andre Tredje Fjerde Femte Hurs ja Ura Bry Kva Ho Hu Ve An Sørte o Gorand	ormonpr ninger? a; kryss egelmess ystspenn alme/ma idreaksjo ktøkning net de overr iret horn a;	epara av for sige bl ing gesmo ner	tene gitt o hvilke bi lødninger erter erter	deg ivirkni nger ti	nger:	] Ja ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ]	Nei	Hvor is Hvor is du bru Hvis d du p-p Bruker Vi vil bu mer nø av sam gamme samme Derson besvar husker deg til b bruke d merker numme	Alder ved	ller? dt bar første første nå be nver p le mel da du nerke tatt op nålene oå p-p navne agte b t r vært - pillen	n, brukt fødsel? å? svare sp eriode m ke håpe startet, l t og navr ophold el e for en r ille merk t på p-pi rosjyren solgt i N som stå	ørsmål ed san r vi du hvor le het på p ler skif le mer som vi orge. \ r i bros	lene conmen kan s nge d o-pille tet mo de. I c usikk kene ser bi Zennli	Ja Ja Ja m p-pil henger i oss hy lu brukt ene. erke, sk Dersom ker. For ber vi c ilder av igst opp P-pille (se brosj Nav	åi Nei le bruk de bruk de bruk vor e det a du ikke e å hjelpe deg p-pille- ogi også
Forste Andre Tredje Fjerde Femte Har hoc Divirkr Hvis ja Ure Bry Kva Ho Hu Ve An Sørte o orand	ormonpr ninger? a; kryss egelmes: ystspenn alme/ma depine idreaksjo ktøkning net de overr iret horn a; iftet fra e	epara av for sige bl ing gesmo ner nevnte nonbe	tene gitt hvilke bi ødninger erter bivirknin ehandling	deg ivirkni ivirkni nger ti jen dir	nger:	] Ja ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ]	Nei	Hvor is Hvor is du bru Hvis d du p-p Bruker Vi vil b mer nø av sam gamme samme Derson besvar husker deg til b bruke d periode Første	Alder ved	Var du liler? dt bar første nå be ver p le mei da du nerke tatt op nålene bå p-p navne aggte b r vært -pillen	n, brukt fødsel? å? svare sp eriode m rke håpe startet, l t og navr ophold el e for en r ille merk t på p-pi rosjyren solgt i N som stå	arsmål ed san r vi du hvor le het på p ler skif y peric et, sett le mer som vi orge. N r i bros	lene conmen kan s nge d p-pille tet m de. I t usikk kene ser bi /ennli	Ja Ja Ja om p-pil henger i oss hy lu brukt ene. erke, sk Dersom ker. For ber vi c ilder av igst opp	åi Nei le bruk de bruk de bruk vor e det a du ikke e å hjelpe jeg popille- ogi også
Første Andre Tredje Fjerde Fernte Har hoc Divirkr Hvis ja Ure Bry Kvi Ho Hu Ve An Ve An Førte o orand Hvis ja Ski til d	ormonpr ninger? a; kryss egelmes: ystspenn alme/ma adepine ddreaksjo ktøkning net de overr Iret horn a; iftet fra e	epara av for sige bl ing gesmo ner nevnte nonbe	tene gitt hvilke bi lødninger erter bivirknin shandling monprepa	deg ivirkni inger ti jen dir	nger:	] Ja ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ]	Nei	Hvor is Hvor is du bru Hvis d du p-p Bruker Vi vil b mer nø av sam gamme samme Derson besvar husker deg til bruke d Periode Første Andre	Alder ved	Var du liler? dt bar første nå be nver p le mel da du merke tatt op nålenæ på p-p navne agge b r vært -pillen	n, brukt fødsel? å? svare sp eriode m ke håpe startet, l t og navr ophold el e for en r ille merk t på p-pi mosjyren solgt i N som stå	arsmål ed sam r vi du nvor le- ler skif y peric et, sett le mer som vi orge. \ r i bros	lene conmen kan s nge d o-pille tet mo ode. 1 c usikk kene ser bi /ennli	Ja Ja Ja om p-pil henger i oss hu bervi c lu brukt me. serke, sk Dersom ker. For ber vi c lder av igst opp P-pille (se brosj Nav	
Første Andre Tredje Fjerde Femte Har ho Divirkr Hvis ja Ure Bry Kvis Ho Hu Ve An <b>-</b> ørte o 'orand Hvis ja Ski til e	prmonpr ninger? a; kryss egelmess ystspenn alme/ma depine dreaksjo ktøkning net de overr fret horn a; iftet fra e et annet	epara av for sige bl ing gesmo ner nevnte nonbe	tene gitt o hvilke bi lødninger erter e bivirkning handling monprepa	deg ivirkni inger ti jen dir	nger:	] Ja ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ]	Nei	Hvor is Hvor is du bru Hvis d du p-p Brukei Vi vil b mer nø av sam gamme samme Dersor besvar husker numme	Alder ved	var du liler? dt bar første første nå be nver p le mer da du merke tatt op nålenæ aå p-p nålenæ agte b r vært -pillen	n, brukt fødsel? fødsel? svare sp eriode m ke håpe startet, l og navr pphold el e for en r ille merkk t på p-pi irosjyren solgt i N som stå	arsmål ed sam r vi du hvor le ler skif y perice et, sett le mer som vi orge. \ r i bros	lene c nmen kan s nge d o-pille tet mo ode. I t usikk kene ser bi /ennli	Ja Ja Ja om p-pil henger i oss hu bervi c ilder av igst opp P-pille (se brosj Nav	
Første Andre Tredje Fjerde Femte Har ho Divirkr Hvis ja Ure Bry Kva Ho Hu Ve An Førte o forand Huis ja Ski til e Slu	prmonpr ninger? a; kryss egelmess ystspenn alme/ma depine dreaksjo ktøkning net de overr dret horn a; iftet fra e et annet uttet på e	epara av for sige bl ing gesmo ner nevnte nonbe	tene gitt o hvilke bi lødninger erter e bivirknin ehandling monprepa ånd?	deg ivirkni	nger:	] Ja ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ] ]	Nei	Hvor is Hvor is du bru Hvis d du p-p Brukei Vi vil b mer nø av sam gamme samme Derson besvar husker deg til i bruke o merker numme	Alder ved	Var du Var du liler? dt bar første første nå be nver p le men da du merke tatt op nålenæ å p-p nålenavne agte b r vært -pillen Brukt s	n, brukt fødsel? svare sp eriode m ke håpe startet, l ophold el pohold el o for en r ille merkk t på p-pi rosjyren solgt i N som stå	pang parsmål ed sam r vi du hvor le het på p ler skif y peric et, sett le mer som vi orge. \ r i bros Nr.	lene c nmen kan s nge d o-pille tet mo ode. I t usikk kene ser bi /ennli	Ja Ja Ja om p-pil henger i oss hu brukt me. erke, sk Dersom ker. For ber vi c ker. For ber vi c ker. For ber vi c ker. Sk Dersom ker. Sk Sk Sk Sk Sk Sk Sk Sk Sk Sk Sk Sk Sk S	ane me me me me me me me me me m

							Brys	tkrefi	i na	erm	nest	e fa	mil	ie		
Har du eller ha	r du ha	att noei	n av fø Ja	l <b>gende</b> Nei	sykdor Hvis Alder ve	<b>mmer?</b> Ja: ed start	Har noe	n nære	slekti	ninge	<b>er hat</b> Ja	t brys Nei'	stkre	<b>ft;</b> /et ke	Alder ved sta	art
Høvt blodtrvkk							datte	er		[			[			]
Hiertesvikt/hier	tekram	ne					mor			[			[			]
Årsbetenneles	CRIAIN	pe				<del>ا</del>	morr	nor		[			ſ	7		]
Arebetennelse	-					Ħ	farm	or		[			ſ			ĺ
Blodpropp i leg	g eller	lår				4	søst	er		L L			L L			1
Hjerteinfarkt						4	0001			[			L		L	1
Slag						4	Und	ersøk	else	r fo	r kr	eft				
Migrene							Hvor of	te unde	rsøke	r du l	orvst	ene d	ine s	selv?	1	
Epilepsi							(sett ett	kryss)								
Sukkersvke (di	abetes						Aldri									
Osteonoroso							Ureg	gelmessi	g							
Valeopolose		- )				۲	Reg	elmessig	g (ome	entrer	nt hve	r mår	ned).			
Pepresjon (bes	økt leg	e)					-									
Oppratter du d	iin ege	n tysis		se som	i; (Sett et	t kryss)	Går du i	til reael	messi	a un	dersø	kels	e av	brvs	tene o	dine
i meget god	ç	joa	∟ dari	iig ∟	meget	darlig	med ma	mmoar	afi? (	ent of	tt krys	(2)	o uv	5. y 0		anno
Oppfatter du d	in ege	n psyki	ske he	Ise soi	n; (Sett e	ett kryss)	Noi	inninogr	an. (c	boll of	u kiye	53)				_
l meget god	L) g	jod	∟ dårl	lig L	meget	dårlig	Ner.		(							
Sosiale fe	orhol	d	<b>标准结构</b>	in the second	Star Marine		Ja, r	ned to å	rs me	llomro	om el	er mi	ndre			
		100					la r	nod to å	rs me	lomro	om					
Er du: (Sett ett kr	VSS)						Ja, I	neu to a	io mo							
Er du: (Sett ett kr	yss) nboer		/separe	ərt 🗌	uaift 🗌	enke	Fysi	sk ak	tivit	et		Inter				
Er du: (Sett ett kr gift sar Hvor mange po	<sub>'yss)</sub> nboer <b>ersone</b>	skill sr er de	t/separe	ert	ugift 🗌	enke	<b>Fysi</b> Vi ber de	sk akt	tivit din fys	et iske a	aktivit	et ett	er en	skal	a fra	
Er du: (Sett ett kr gift sar Hvor mange po	<sub>'yss)</sub> nboer <b>ersone</b>	skill sr er de	t/separe	ert 🗌 husho	ugift I <b>d?</b> Antall: .	enke	Vi ber de svært lite	sk akt eg angi o e til svæ	tivit din fys ert my	et iske a e ved	aktivit	et ette	er en års a	skal der d	a fra og i da	L.
Er du: (Sett ett kr gift sar Hvor mange po Hvor høy er br	<sub>vss)</sub> nboer <b>ersone</b> <b>uttoin</b> i	skill sr er de ntekter	t/separe t <b>i ditt</b> n i husł	ert 🗌 husho	ugift Id? Antall: . pr. år?	]enke	Vi ber de svært lite Skalaen vi både a	sk akt eg angi o e til svæ nedenfo arbeid i	tivit din fys ert my or går hiemm	e <b>t</b> iiske a e ved fra 1- net oc	aktivit 14 o 10. N	et ette g 30 å led fy eslive	er en års a sisk	skal der c aktivi	a fra og i da tet me	ag. ener
Er du: (Sett ett ki gift sar Hvor mange p Hvor høy er br under 150 (	<sub>yss)</sub> nboer <b>ersone</b> <b>uttoin</b> 200 kr	skill er er de ntekter	t/separe t i ditt i hust	ert husho noldet 000–3	ugift Id? Antall: . pr. år? 00 000	] enke	Vi ber de svært lite Skalaen vi både a annen fy	sk akt eg angi o e til svæ nedenfo arbeid i l vsisk akt	tivit din fys ert my or går hjemm ivitet s	et iiske a e ved fra 1- net og som ti	aktivit   14 o   10. M ] i yrk urgåir	et ette g 30 å led fy eslive ng o.l.	er en års a sisk t, sa Sett	skal Ider c aktivi umt tr ring	a fra og i da tet me ening rundt	ag. ener og det
Er du: (Sett ett ki gift sar Hvor mange po Hvor høy er br under 150 ( 301 000–48	ryss) nboer ersone ruttoini 000 kr 50 000	skilt sr er de ntekter [ kr [	t/separe t i ditt i husł 151 451	ert husho noldet 000–3 000–6	ugift Id? Antall: . pr. år? 00 000 00 000	] enke kr kr	Vi ber de svært lite Skalaen vi både a annen fy tallet sor	sk akt eg angi ( e til svæ nedenfo arbeid i l vsisk akt m best a	tivit din fys ert my or går hjemm ivitet s ngir d	et iiske a e ved fra 1- net og som ti itt niv	aktivit 14 o 10. M g i yrk urgåir å av t	et ette g 30 å led fy eslive ng o.l. ýsisk	er en års a sisk sisk t, sa Sett aktiv	skal der c aktivi amt tr ring ritet.	a fra og i da tet mo ening rundt	ag. ener og det
Er du: (Sett ett ki gift sar Hvor mange pr Hvor høy er br under 150 ( 301 000–45 over 600 00	yss) nboer ersone ruttoini 200 kr 50 000 00 kr	Skill er er de ntekter [ kr	t/separe t i ditt i hush 151 451	ert  husho holdet 000–3 000–6	ugift Id? Antall: . pr. år? 00 000 00 000	]enke kr kr	Vi ber de svært litt Skalaen vi både a annen fy tallet son	sk akt eg angi e e til svæ nedenfr arbeid i rsisk akt m best a Svært lite	tivit din fys ert my or går hjemm ivitet s ingir d	et iiske a e ved fra 1- net og som ti itt niv	aktivit   14 o   10. M   10. M g i yrk urgåir å av 1	et ette g 30 å led fy eslive ng o.l. fysisk	er en års a sisk t, sa Sett aktiv	skal der c aktivi umt tr ring ritet. Sva	a fra og i da tet me ening rundt	ag. ener og det
Er du: (Sett ett ki gift sar Hvor mange p Hvor høy er br under 150 ( 301 000–45 over 600 00 Røykevar	yss) nboer ersone uttoin 000 kr 50 000 00 kr 10 r	skill sr er de ntekter [ kr [	t/separe t i ditt i hush 151 451	ert husho noldet 000–3 000–6	ugift Id? Antall: . pr. år? 00 000	]enke kr kr	Vi ber de svært litt Skalaen vi både s annen fy tallet sor	sk akt eg angi e e til svæ nedenfe arbeid i l vsisk akt m best a Svært lite 1 2	tivit din fys ert my or går hjemm ivitet s ingir d	et iiske a e ved fra 1- net og som tr itt niv 4	aktivit I 14 o 10. M g i yrk urgåir å av 1	et ette g 30 å led fy eslive ng o.l. ysisk	er en års a sisk t, sa Sett aktiv	skal der c aktivi umt tr ring ritet. Sva 8	a fra og i da tet me ening rundt ært mye	ag. ener og det
Er du: (Sett ett ki gift sar Hvor mange pr Hvor høy er br under 150 ( 301 000–45 over 600 00 Røykevar	yss) nboer ersone ruttoini 200 kr 50 000 00 kr 1er	skill sr er de ntekter [ kr	t/separe t i ditt i hush 151 451	ert husho holdet 000–3 000–6	ugift Id? Antall: . pr. år? 00 000 00 000	]enke kr kr kr	Vi ber de svært litt Skalaen vi både a annen fy tallet sor Alder 14 år 30 år	sk ak eg angi e e til svæ nedenfe arbeid i ssisk akt m best a Svært litt 1 2 1 2	tivite din fys ert my or går hjemm ivitet s ingir d 3 3	et iiske a e ved fra 1- net og som tu itt niv 4 4	aktivit 14 o 10. M g i yrk urgåir å av 1 5 5	et ette g 30 å led fy eslive ng o.l. fysisk 6 6	er en års a sisk sisk Sett aktiv 7	skal der c aktivi umt tr ring ritet. Sva 8	a fra og i da tet mo ening rundt ært myo 9 9	ag. ener og det 10 10
Er du: (Sett ett ki gift sar Hvor mange po Hvor høy er br under 150 ( 301 000–45 over 600 00 Røykevar Har du noen g	yss) nboer ersone ruttoini 200 kr 50 000 00 kr ner ang rø	skill srerde ntekter [ kr [	t/separe t i ditt i husł 151 451	ert  husho holdet 000–3 000–6	ugift Id? Antall: . pr. år? 00 000 00 000 Ja 	]enke kr kr kr	Vi ber de svært litt Skalaen vi både a annen fy tallet son Alder 14 år 30 år I dag	sk ak eg angi d e til svæ nedenfo arbeid i l vsisk akt m best a Svært litt 1 2 1 2 1 2	tivit din fys ert my or går hjemm ivitet s ingir d 3 3 3	et iiske a e ved fra 1- net og som ti itt niv 4 4 4	aktivit 14 o 10. M 10. M	et ette g 30 å led fy eslive ng o.l. ýsisk 6 6 6	er en års a sisk sisk sett aktiv 7 7 7	skal der c aktivi mt tr ring ritet. Sva 8 8 8	a fra og i da tet me ening rundt ært mye 9 9 9	ag. ener og det 10 10 10
Er du: (Sett ett ki gift sar Hvor mange p Hvor høy er br under 150 ( 301 000–45 over 600 00 Røykevar Har du noen g Hvis Ja, ber vio	yss) nboer ersone uttoini 000 kr 50 000 00 kr ner ner ang rø deg opr	skill srerde ntekter [ kr [ kt? å fylle	t/separe t i ditt i hush 151 451	husho husho 000–3 000–6	ugift Id? Antall: . pr. år? 00 000 00 000 Ja  Ja  ersgrupp	] enke kr kr kr Nei	Vi ber de svært litt Skalaen vi både a annen fy tallet sor Alder 14 år 30 år I dag	sk akt eg angi d e til svæ nedenfo arbeid i l vsisk akt m best a Svært litt 1 2 1 2 1 2	tivit din fys ert my or går hjemm ivitet s ingir d 3 3 3	et iske a e ved fra 1- net og som tu itt niv 4 4 4	aktivit 1 14 o 10. M 3 i yrk urgåir å av t 5 5 5 5	et etta g 30 å led fy eslive ng o.l. ýysisk 6 6 6	er en års a sisk sisk Sett aktiv 7 7 7 7	skal der o aktivi imt tr ring vitet. Sva 8 8 8 8	a fra og i da tet me ening rundt ært mye 9 9 9	ag. ener og det 10 10 10
Er du: (Sett ett ki gift sar Hvor mange p Hvor høy er br under 150 ( 301 000–45 over 600 00 Røykevar Har du noen g Hvis Ja, ber vi o livet hvor mang i den perioden.	yss) nboer ersone ruttoini 200 kr 50 000 00 kr her her ang rø deg om	skill srerde ntekter kr kr kt?	t/separe t i ditt i hush 151 451 451 ut for h	ert husho husho noldet 000–3 000–6	ugift Id? Antall: . pr. år? 00 000 00 000 00 000 Ja Ja ersgrup tt røkte	enke kr kr Nei pr. dag	Vi ber de svært litt Skalaen vi både a annen fy tallet sor Alder 14 år 30 år I dag	sk ak eg angi d e til svæ nedenfr arbeid i l vsisk akt m best a Svært litt 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2	tivit din fys ert myy- or går hjemn ivitet s ngir d 3 3 3 3 <b>vek</b>	et iiske a e ved fra 1- net og som tri itt niv 4 4 4 4	aktivit   14 o 10. M g i yrk urgåir å av f 5 5 5	et ett g 30 å led fy eslive ng o.l. 6 6 6 6	er en års a sisk i t, sa Sett aktiv 7 7 7 7	skal der c aktivi imt tr ring ritet. 8 8 8 8	a fra og i da tet me ening rundt wert mye 9 9 9	ag. eener og det 10 10 10
Er du: (Sett ett ki gift sar Hvor mange p Hvor høy er br under 150 ( 301 000–45 over 600 00 Røykevar Har du noen g Hvis Ja, ber vi d livet hvor mang i den perioden.	yss) nboer ersone ruttoinn 2000 kr 50 000 00 kr ner ang rø deg om e sigar Anta	skill srerde ntekter [ kr [ kt? å fylle etterdu	t/separe t i ditt i hush 151 451 ut for h	ert husho husho 000–3 000–6 nver ald nomsni	ugift Antall: . pr. år? 00 000 00 000 Ja  ersgrup tt røkte	enke kr kr kr Dee i pr. dag	Vi ber de svært lit Skalaen vi både a annen fy tallet son Alder 14 år 30 år I dag Høye	sk ak eg angi d e til svæ nedenfo arbeid i l vsisk akt m best a Svært litu 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2	tivit din fys ert my- yor går hjemn ivitet s ngir d 3 3 3 3 <b>vek</b>	et iiske a e ved fra 1- net og simt niv 4 4 4 4	aktivit 1 14 o 10. M 10.	et etti g 30 å led fy eslive ng o.l. 6 6 6 6	er en års a sisk i sisk s Sett aktiv 7 7 7 7 7	skal der c aktivi mt tr ring vitet. 8 8 8 8 8 8	a fra og i da tet mø ening rundt <del>ært myø</del> 9 9 9	ag. ener og det 10 10 10 10
Er du: (Sett ett ki gift sar Hvor mange p Hvor høy er br under 150 ( 301 000–45 over 600 00 Røykevar Har du noen g Hvis Ja, ber vi d livet hvor mang i den perioden.	yss) nboer ersone uttoinn 000 kr 50 000 00 kr 1er ang rø deg om e sigar Anta 1-4	skill srerde ntekter [ kr [ kt? å fylle etterdu ull sigaret 5-9	t/separe t i ditt 151 451 ut for h i gjenr ter hver o	ert husho husho 000–3 000–6 000–6 nover ald nomsni dag	ugift	enke kr kr kr Dee i pr. dag	Vi ber de svært litt Skalaen vi både a annen fy tallet sor Alder 14 år 30 år I dag Høyve Hvor hø	sk akt eg angi e e til svæ nedenfo arbeid i l vsisk akt m best a Svært litt 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 de og og er du	tivit din fys or går hjemn ivitet s a 3 3 3 <b>vek</b>	et iiske a e ved fra 1- net og som tu itt niv 4 4 4 4 4 4	aktivit   14 o 10. M j i yrk urgåir 5 5 5 5	et etti g 30 å led fy eslive ng o.l. ýysisk 6 6 6	er en års a sisk sisk Sett aktiv 7 7 7 7 7	skal der c aktivi mt tr ring ritet. Sva 8 8 8 8 8	a fra g i da tet ma ening rundt 9 9 9 9	ag. ener og det 10 10 10 10
Er du: (Sett ett ki gift sar Hvor mange p Hvor høy er br under 150 ( 301 000–45 over 600 00 Røykevar Har du noen g Hvis Ja, ber vi o livet hvor mang i den perioden. Alder 0 15-19 20-29	yss) nboer ersone ruttoini 000 kr 50 000 00 kr ner ang rø deg om e sigar Anta 1-4	skill srerde ntekter [ kr [ kt? å fylle etterdu ull sigaret	t/separe t i ditt 151 3451 ut for h i gjenr ter hver o 10-14	ert husho husho 000–3 000–6 000–6 000–6	ugift Antall: . pr. år? 00 000 00 000 Ja  ersgrup tt røkte	enke kr kr kr Dpe i pr. dag	Vi ber de svært litt Skalaen vi både s annen fy tallet sor Alder 14 år 30 år I dag Høyv Hvor hø	sk akt eg angi e e til svæ nedenfo arbeid i l vsisk akt m best a Svært litt 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 de og vy er du ye veier	tivit din fys ert my or går hjemm ivitet s angir d 3 3 3 3 3 <b>vek</b> 2 <b>vek</b>	et iiske a e ved fra 1- net og som tu iitt niv 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	aktivit   14 o   10. M   i yrk urgåir å av f 5 5 5	et ett g 30 å led fy eslive g o.l. ýsisk 6 6 6	er en års a sisk i sett aktiv 7 7 7 7	skal der c aktivi imt tr ring itet. 8 8 8 8 8	a fra og i da tet mo ening rundt 9 9 9 9	ag. ener og det 10 10 10 10 cm kg
Er du: (Sett ett ki gift sar Hvor mange p Hvor høy er br under 150 ( 301 000–45 over 600 00 Røykevar Har du noen g Hvis Ja, ber vi d livet hvor mang i den perioden. Alder 0 15-19 20-29 30-39	yss) nboer ersone ruttoinn 200 kr 50 000 00 kr ner ang rø deg om e sigar Anta	skill srerde ntekter [ kr [ kt? å fylle etterdu all sigaret	t/separe t i ditt i hush 151 451 ut for h i gjenr ter hver o	ert hushol hushol 000–3 000–6 000–6 nover ald nomsni	ugift	enke kr kr Nei ppe i pr. dag	Vi ber de svært lit Skalaen vi både a annen fy tallet sor Alder 14 år 30 år I dag Høyv Hvor hø Hvor my	sk ak eg angi d e til svæ nedenfo arbeid i l vsisk akt m best a Svært litu 1 2 1 2 1 2 de og vy er du vy er du vy eveler	tivit din fys ert my- or går hjemn ivitet s ngir d 3 3 3 <b>vek</b> ? du i d	et iiske a e ved fra 1- net og som tr itt niv 4 4 4 4 t t dag? a du	aktivil 14 o 10. M 10. M 10. M 11 o 14 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	et ette g 30 å led fy eslive ng o.l. 6 6 6 6 6 8 8 år?	er en års a sisk sisk Sett aktiv 7 7 7 7	skal der c aktivi umt tr ring itet. 8 8 8 8 8	a fra g i da tet me ening rundt 9 9 9	ag. ener og det 10 10 10 10 kg kg
Er du: (Sett ett ki gift sar Hvor mange pr Hvor høy er br under 150 ( 301 000–48 over 600 00 Røykevar Har du noen gi Hvis Ja, ber vi d livet hvor mang i den perioden. Alder 0 15-19 20-29 30-39 40-49	yss) nboer ersone ruttoinn 2000 kr 50 000 00 kr ner ang rø deg om e sigar Anta	skill srer de ntekter [ kr [ kt? å fylle etter du ull sigaret	t/separe t i ditt 151 451 ut for h i gjenr ter hver o	ert hushol hushol 000–3 000–6 wer ald nomsni dag	ugift	lenke kr kr kr Dee i pr. dag	Vi ber de svært lit Skalaen vi både a annen fy tallet sor Alder 14 år 30 år I dag Høyv Hvor hø Hvor my	sk ak eg angi d e til svæ nedenfo arbeid i l vsisk akt m best a Svært litu 1 2 1 2 1 2 de og vy er du vye veier vye veide	tivit din fys or går hjemn ivitet s ngir d 3 3 3 <b>vek</b> ? du i d e du d	et iiske a e ved fra 1- net og som tri itt niv 4 4 4 4 t dag? a du	aktivii 14 o 10. M 10. M 1 yrk urgåir 3 5 5 5 5 5 5 var 1	et ett g 30 å led fy eslive ng o.l. 6 6 6 6 6 6 8 år?	er en års a sisk s Sett aktiv 7 7 7 7	skal der c aktivi umt tr ring itet. 8 8 8 8 	a fra og i da tet me ening rundt 9 9 9 9	ag. eener og det 10 10 10 10 10 kg kg
Er du: (Sett ett ki gift sar Hvor mange p Hvor høy er br under 150 ( 301 000–45 over 600 00 Røykevar Hvis Ja, ber vi o livet hvor mang i den perioden. Alder 0 15-19 20-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 20 20	yss) nboer ersone outtoini 000 kr 50 000 00 kr ner ang rø deg om e sigar Anta 1-4	skill srer de ntekter [ kr [ kt? å fylle etter du ull sigaret	t/separe t i ditt i hush 151 451 ut for h i gjenr ter hver o 10-14	ert hushol hushol 000–3 000–6 000–6	ugift	enke kr kr Nei ppe i pr. dag	Vi ber de svært litt Skalaen vi både a annen fy tallet sor Alder 14 år 30 år I dag Høyv Hvor hø Hvor my Har du li	sk ak eg angi d e til svæ nedenfo arbeid i l /sisk akt m best a Svært litt 1 2 1 2 de og ny er du ye veier ye veide agt på d	tivit din fys ert my or går hjemm ivitet s ngir d 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 <b>vek</b> ? <b>du i d</b> e du d	et iiske a e ved fra 1- net og som ti itt niv 4 4 4 4 t dag? a du er at o	aktivii 14 o 10. M 1 yrk urgåir 3 5 5 5 5 5 var 1 du ble	et ett g 30 å led fy eslive g o.l. 6 6 6 6 6 8 8 år? 8 år?	er en års a sisk t Sett aktiv 7 7 7 7 7	skal der c aktivi imt tr ring ritet. 8 8 8 8 8 	a fra og i da tet me ening rundt 9 9 9 9	ag. eener og det 10 10 10 10 cm kg kg Nei
Er du: (Sett ett ki gift sar Hvor mange p Hvor høy er br under 150 ( 301 000–45 over 600 00 Røykevar Har du noen g Hvis Ja, ber vi ( ivet hvor mang i den perioden. Alder 0 15-19 20-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69	yss) nboer ersone outtoini 200 kr 50 000 00 kr ner ang rø deg om deg om e sigar Anta	skill srer de ntekter kr [ kt? å fylle etter du ull sigaret	t/separe t i ditt i hush 151 451 ut for h i gjenr ter hver o 10-14	ert  husho holdet 000–3 000–6	ugift	lenke kr kr kr Dpe i pr. dag	Vi ber de svært litt Skalaen vi både s annen fy tallet sor Alder 14 år 30 år I dag Høyv Hvor hø Hvor my Hvor my Har du s	sk ak eg angi e e til svæ nedenfo arbeid i l rsisk akt m best a <u>Svært litt</u> 1 2 1 2 1 2 <b>de og</b> ny er du ye veier ye veier ye veide agt på d	tivit din fys ert my or går hjemm ivitet s ngir d 3 3 3 3 <b>vek</b> ? du i d e du d eg ettu	et iiske a e ved fra 1- net og som ti itt niv 4 4 4 4 4 4 t t dag? a du er at o ge kg	aktivit 14 o 10. M 1 yrk urgåir 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 var 1 du ble g?	et ett g 30 å led fy eslive ng o.l. 6 6 6 6 6 8 år? 8 år? ₽ 50 å	er en års a sisk t Sett aktiv 7 7 7 7 7	skal der c aktivi imt tr ring ritet. 8 8 8 8 8 	a fra og i da tet mo ening rundt 9 9 9	Ag. ener og det 10 10 10 10 cm kg kg Nei kg
Er du: (Sett ett ki gift sar Hvor mange pr Hvor høy er br under 150 ( 301 000–45 over 600 00 Røykevar Har du noen gi Hvis Ja, ber vi d livet hvor mang i den perioden. Alder 0 15-19 20-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69	yss) nboer ersone 2000 kr 50 000 00 kr ner ang rø deg om e sigar 1-4	skill srer de ntekter kr [ kt? å fylle etter du all sigaret	t/separe t i ditt i hush 151 451 ut for h i gjenn ter hver o 10-14	ert husho husho 000–3 000–6 000–6 nver ald nomsni dag	ugift Id? Antall: . pr. år? 00 000 000 000 000 000 000 000 000 000	enke kr kr Nei ppe i pr. dag	Vi ber da svært lit Skalaen vi både a annen fy tallet son Alder 14 år 30 år I dag Høy Hvor hø Hvor my Har du la	sk ak eg angi d e til svæ nedenfo arbeid i l vsisk akt m best a Svært litu 1 2 1 2 1 2 de og ny er du ye veide agt på d	tivit din fys ert myy or går hjemm ivitet s ngir d 3 3 3 <b>vek</b> 2 <b>du i d</b> e du d eg ett	et iiske a e ved fra 1- net og som tri itt niv 4 4 4 4 4 t t dag? a du er at o uge kg	aktivit 14 o 10. M 10. M 10. M 11 o 14 o 15 5 5 5 5 5 var 1 du ble g?	et ett g 30 å led fy eslive ng o.l. 6 6 6 6 6 8 år? 8 år? ₽ 50 å	er en års a sisk t Sett aktiv 7 7 7 7 7 7	skal der c aktivi umt tr ring itet. 8 8 8 8 8   	a fra og i da tet mo ening rundt 9 9 9	Ag. eener og det 10 10 10 10 10 10 kg kg Nei kg
Er du: (Sett ett ki gift sar Hvor mange p Hvor høy er br under 150 ( 301 000–48 over 600 00 Røykevar Har du noen g Hvis Ja, ber vi d livet hvor mang i den perioden. Alder 0 15-19 20-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69 Røker du dagli	yss) nboer ersone uttoini 000 kr 50 000 00 kr 1er ang rø deg om e sigar Anta 1-4	skill srer de ntekter [ kr [ å fylle etter du ull sigaret 5-9	t/separe t i ditt i hush 151 451 ut for h i gjenr ter hver o	ert  husho husho holdet 000–3 000–6  ver ald homsni dag 15-19	ugift	enke kr kr Nei ppe i pr. dag 25+	Vi ber da svært liti Skalaen vi både a annen fy tallet sor Alder 14 år 30 år I dag Høyv Hvor my Hvor my Har du li	sk ak eg angi e e til svæ nedenfo arbeid i l vsisk akt m best a Svært litt 1 2 1 2 1 2 de og vy er du vy e veier vy e veier agt på d	tivit din fys or går hjemn ivitet s ngir d 3 3 3 <b>vek</b> ? du i d e du d eg ett	et iiske a e ved fra 1- net og som ti itt niv 4 4 4 4 4 t dag? a du er at o ge k	aktivii 14 o 10. M 1 yrk urgåir 3 av 1 5 5 5 5 var 1 du ble g?	et ett. g 30 å led fy eslive g o.l. g o.l. 6 6 6 6 6 8 år? 8 år? ≱ 50 å	er en års a sisk t Sett aktiv 7 7 7 7 7	skal der c aktivi imt tr ring vitet. 8 8 8 8 8  	a fra og i da tet me ening rundt 9 9 9	ag. eener og det 10 10 10 10 10 kg kg Nei kg

Solvanor	Hvor mange	e uker	soler o	du deg	pr. år i	syde	n?
Solvaner	Alder	Aldri	11	ike	2-3 uker	4-5 uker	7 uker eller mer
Dersom du i begynnelsen av sommeren soler deg kraftig, blir huden din; (sett ett kryss)	Før 10 år						
brun uten først å være rød	10-19 ar 20-45 år						
rød med svie rød med svie og blemmer	45+ år						
Etter gjentatt og lenge soling, blir huden din; (sett ett kryss)	Hvor mang	e uker len?	pr. år	soler d	u deg i	Norg	e eller
	Alder	Aldri	11	ike	2-3	4-5	7 uker
	Før 10 år				uker	uker	eller mer
Hvor mange uregelmessige føflekker større enn 5 mm	10-19 år						
lysken)? Tre eksempler på føflekker større enn	20-45 år						
5 mm med uregelmessig form er vist i nedenfor.	45+ år						
0 1 2-3 4-6 7-12 13-24 25+	Når bruker	du kre	em mec	l solfak	tor (se	t evt. f	ere krvss):
8	🗌 påsken		i Norge utenfor	eller syden	Ľ	solf	erie i syden
	Hvilke solfa	aktore	r bruke	r du i d	lisse p	eriode	ene?
5 mm	pa	åsken	i N ute	orge ell nfor syc	er len	solfe	rie i syden
Hvor mange små, regelmessige føflekker har du sammenlagt på begge beina (fra tærne til lysken)?	-I dag .		<mark></mark>				·····
	- For 10						
Hvilken øvefarge har du? (sett ett kryss)	u olden .	(					_
	Hvilke solk	remme	erker b	ruker d	u? Ana	faktor h	vis du husker.
			Ja	fa	aktor	- cantor i	
Hva er din opprinnelige hårfarge? (sett ett kryss)	Piz Buin						
🗌 mørkbrunt, svart 🗌 brun 🗌 blond, gul 🔲 rød	Ambre Solai	iré					
	Delial						
For å kunne studere effekten av soling på risiko for	Natusan						
hudkreft ber vi deg gi opplysninger om hudfarge	нтн						
Sett ett kryss på den fargen som best passer din	ATH Occuries						
hudfarge (uten soling)	Cosmica						
	Andre		. 🗆				
	Hvor ofte ha	ar du s	solt de	g i sola	rium?		
1   2   3   4   5   6   7   8   9   10	Alder	Aldri	Sjelden	1 gang pr. mnd.	2 gange pr. mnd	r 3-4 gai pr. m	nger oftere nd enn1 gang pr. uke
Hvor ofte dusjer eller bader du?	Før 10 år						
Mer enn 1 g 4-6 g 2-3 g 1 g 2-3 g Sjelden 1 g dagi dagi pr, uke pr, uke pr, uke pr, mnd. aldri	10-19 år						
Med såne/champo	20-44 år						
Ulten såpe/shampo	45+ år						
						RV- en en en en	
Hvor mange ganger pr. år er du blitt forbrent av solen slik at du har fått svie og blemmer med avflassing etterpå? (ett kryss for hver aldersgruppe)	Til slutt vil s		une de c	om dia		delega	
Alder Aldri Høyst 2-3 g. 4-5 g. 6 eller	kontakte de	g på r	ne deg nytt pr.	post. V	i vil he	nte a	dressen
Før 10 år	fra det sent	rale po	ersonre	egister.		Ja	🗌 Nei
10-19 år							
20-44 år	E-GALLER CO.	-			0. 1. T	and the second	
45+ år	Takk for	at d	1 villo	dolta	iun	dore	akoleon
	rann ior	ai ui		uona	. i un	2010	enciden

-4-